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Member practices’ introduction 

GP practices in Darlington have a history of working closely together.  Since the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was established, those close working links 
have been reinforced and there is greater partnership working now than ever before. 
 
Our CCG has a clear focus on improving the health and healthcare services for the 
people in Darlington.  With a population of just over 100,000, we are one of the 
smallest CCGs.  That gives us some specific challenges, not least the limited 
number of clinicians available to take on roles for the CCG. 
 
Working closely with Darlington Borough Council lends us strength by bringing 
services, commissioners and providers closer together. 
 
Working together means we have a more efficient way of working that will improve 
health and social care for our patients.  In the next few years, a growing elderly 
population and the number of people with long-term conditions will add pressure to 
our precious resources.     
 
This year we have made great strides in multi-disciplinary team working, which 
includes secondary care teams and primary care, and it is by working together that 
we will bring an improved service to all of our patients.   
 
The CCG have made positive inroads into engaging with the public.  This starts at 
practice level where we have patient participation groups, and Healthwatch 

Darlington host public meetings to inform residents of the CCG's work.  Member 
practices have representatives on the committees of the CCG and have specialist 
expertise in various areas of clinical priority for the CCG.   
 
Alison Macnaughton-Jones, Rockcliffe Court Surgery, Chair of Members 
Assembly 
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Strategic report 

Foreword 

In 2014/15, NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has continued to 
build on its firm clinical and financial foundations. These foundations will be critical 
as we look to secure care and services that are in the best interests of local people 
in a financially challenging climate. The key to delivering safe and effective 
healthcare for people in Darlington will be the way that we conduct our business and 
keep the individual patient in clear focus as we plan and procure services. Whilst we 
will always strive to be clinically led by our member practices, our partnerships will 
endeavour to balance evidence, the patient perspective as well as the vitally 
important clinical view.  
 
In reflecting on our second year, it is far more important to recognise where ambition 
for excellence has taken us, and again this year we have broken new ground in 
Darlington as we build strong and lasting partnerships. In particular, this year we 
have strived to develop positive relationships with colleagues at Darlington Borough 
Council. Both organisations share a common interest and purpose in the health and 
wellbeing of local people, working together has never been more important.  
 
Our vision is for elderly and frail people in Darlington to be cared for outside of 
hospital.  That is being put in place by practice-based teams, including community 
support, planning proactively and responding reactively to needs.  
 
With our practices, we developed a payment for enhanced services to avoid 
unnecessary hospital admissions and support good clinical practice – the Darlington 
Direct Enhanced Service (DES).  Our strong strategic partnership with the Borough 
Council reinforces our collective ambition to improve healthcare and reduce 
unplanned admissions to hospital.  
 
Quality of care and its assurance remains at the heart of our commissioning 
decisions. We were the first CCG in the north east to join the ‘sign up to safety’ 
initiative, and this reflects our commitment to safe and effective care for the people of 
Darlington. We have set ambitious targets for our providers in order to drive up 
standards, and in the main they have delivered, for example Darlington Memorial 
Hospital have achieved a big reduction in clostridium difficile cases by working 
closely with primary care to improve prescribing and the care for vulnerable patients.  
 
Most people‟s experience of the NHS continues to be through a visit to their GP.  
Our GPs see more than 11,500 people each week in Darlington, and through the 
creation of a new GP federation „Primary Healthcare Darlington’, local GPs are 
coming together to drive improvements in the care they deliver to their patients.  This 
work is closely aligned to the national Five Year Forward View, NHS England’s 
vision to promote wellbeing and prevent ill health. 
  
In partnership with Healthwatch Darlington, we have planned a number of successful 
community-based engagement events, most recently with the working population 
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and looking at „A&E: Who’s really in critical condition?‟ we will take the feedback 
collated from this work and build it into our planning and decision making. 
 
We continue to invest in the community and made further awards through our 
Community Innovations ‘Dragons Den’ Fund, which showcased the vibrancy and 
creativity of our local voluntary and community sector, helping local people to help 
themselves. 
 
We successfully lead a partnership across the North East and Cumbria to evidence 
improvements in the care of lower back pain through implementing the „NICE - gold 
standard pathway‟. This excellent work will be rolled across the whole of the North 
East and Cumbria providing more effective care. 
 
This foreword would be incomplete if we did not note that this year the CCG has 
successfully met its financial duties in full. This is a result of the hard work of 
clinicians and managers working in partnership, and reflects our shared commitment 
and will be integral to new ways working with the local authority, third sector, patients 
and carers to build sustainable services.  
 
Martin Phillips was in post as Chief Officer for the duration of the financial year 
however due to unforeseen circumstances he was not available to sign the annual 
report on 28 May 2015. As a consequence Ali Wilson, Chief Officer and Accountable 
Officer of NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group, has 
stepped in as Acting Accountable Officer to discharge this responsibility for NHS 
Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson       Andrea Jones 
Acting Accountable Officer    Chair 
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About us, who we are and what we do 

We are NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  We are a member 
organisation, comprising 11 GP practices.  We were established on 1 April 2013 
following a comprehensive reorganisation of the NHS as part of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012.  In 2014/15, we had a total annual budget of £140 million 
which we received from NHS England. 
 
As the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (planning and buying) the 
majority of health services on behalf of our local population with effect from 1 April 
2015 we will also commission primary care (GP) services in partnership with NHS 
England.  What is commissioning? Think of commissioning like your weekly 
supermarket shopping.  You want to buy food of the highest quality, which provides 
good value for you and your family.  We employ similar principles; our aim is to 
ensure that the health services we commission from providers (such as County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, which runs Darlington Memorial 
Hospital) are of the highest quality and are good value for the money we spend on 
your behalf. 
 
‘Our objective is to commission healthcare that will improve health outcomes, 
reduce health inequalities and ensure fair and equitable access to high quality, 

safe, patient-centred services.’ 
 
Our 11 member practices are spread across a compact borough.  We are one of the 
smallest CCGs in the country.  Every week, our practices see around 11,500 
patients – that‟s over 11% of our local practice population! 
 

 

Our strategic aims 

Our strategic aims are to: 
 

 improve the health status of the people of Darlington; 

 secure the right services in the right place for the people of Darlington; 

 invest in primary care and services; 

 secure meaningful engagement with people. 

To be effective we will need to address the needs of the changing age profile of the 
population of Darlington and manage our resources effectively. We will do this by 
working in partnership with our clinicians and involving our local communities, 
ensuring they have a voice.   
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Our legal status 

NHS Darlington CCG came into being as an NHS Statutory Body on 1 April 2013.  
The CCG was granted legal status by NHS England in March 2013, effective as of 1 
April 2013, and following the mandated authorisation process which all CCGs 
undertook during 2012/13.  
 
We were able to demonstrate that we met all requirements for authorisation and so 
had no conditions of authorisation applied to us. 
 

Where can you find us 

Our corporate headquarters are at Dr Piper House, King Street, Darlington, DL3 6JL.  
We are supported by NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit, which 
provides many of our administrative and commissioning functions. 
 

The population we serve 

Our 11 family GP practices serve a population of 105,000 patients, many of which 
face significant health challenges. 
 
Deprivation is higher than average and although life expectancy for both men and 
women is similar to the England average there are significant differences within 
Darlington. 
 
Life expectancy is 12.4 years lower for men and 8.1 years lower for women in the 
most deprived areas of Darlington than in the least deprived areas of the town 
(2010/2012). 
 
Cancers and Cardiovascular disease are the main causes of early deaths in 
Darlington.  We are also seeing an increase in stroke, dementia and long-term 
conditions such as diabetes and COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease). 
 
Health profiles of Darlington tell us that improvements in child health are needed, 
including achieving a healthy weight.   
 
Levels of teenage pregnancy, breastfeeding and mothers smoking at time of delivery 
are worse than the England average. 
 
The North East has the second highest rate of alcohol related deaths for men and 
women in England.  Tackling alcohol related health harm is a challenge. 
 
Poor adult nutrition and low levels of physical activity contribute to higher rates of 
obesity, diabetes and blood pressure. 
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Partnership working 

In order to improve health and reduce inequalities, the CCG has worked closely with 
a number of partners across the Borough.  The CCG is represented in a range of 
partnerships, some are statutory and others are affiliations or networks of partner 
organisations for a specific issue or community. 
 
The CCG as a „Responsible Authority‟ is a member of the Local Safeguarding 
Children‟s Board (LSCB), Safer Adults Partnership Board (SAPB), and Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP).  The CCG has been a key member of the Darlington 
Health and Wellbeing Board since its establishment in shadow form.  The Health and 
Wellbeing Board promotes integration and partnership working between health, 
social care and other agencies.  Dr Andrea Jones is Vice Chair of the Darlington 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
The Darlington Strategic Partnership is a broad network including the CCG, Council, 
Police, Fire and Rescue, community and voluntary service representatives and 
business leaders.  The Sustainable Community Strategy “One Darlington: Perfectly 
Placed” is also the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the Board.   
 
The CCG is a partner organisation in a range of other networks, with an issue or 
thematic focus, e.g. Substance Misuse Partnership, Mental Health Network, Children 
and Young People‟s Collective and Darlington Ageing Well Network (DAWN).  
 
During 2014/15 the CCG was invited to join the Darlington Borough Council‟s Chief 
Officers Board: Public Health Group.  This is a network concerned with public health 
issues, planning and developments.   

 

2014/15 commissioning programme areas: the year 
in focus 

Our second year as a statutory body, 2014/15 saw us build on the foundations of our 
first year to improve the health of our local population and high standards of patient 
care. 

 
Primary care 
 

Improving Primary Care and Primary Healthcare Darlington 
The creation, following a successful bid in wave one of the Prime Minister‟s 
Challenge Fund (PMCF), of Primary Healthcare Darlington is a true collaboration 
of all 11 GP practices working together as one for the benefit of Darlington patients.   
 
Already, they have had a positive impact in offering patients extended access to 
primary care services and with their expertise, experience and multi-agency links 
across the Borough are well placed to translate their clinical experience and local 
knowledge for the benefit of patients across Darlington, whether you‟re a patient at 
Blacketts, Whinfield or any of the nine practices in between.   
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The project aims to future proof GP surgeries in the town by improving collaborative 
working between practices, sharing the expertise of local GPs and focusing on the 
needs of the town‟s frail and elderly population. 
 
As part of the new ways of working, GPs in Darlington, supported by the CCG, are 
exploring new ways of working, with the aim of having new initiatives established 
within 12 months.  This includes: 
 

 Collaborative working 

GP practices will be looking at working together to offer appointments to patients 
from neighbouring practices, to offer improved flexibility for patients when their 
own practice is busy, and to help practices in managing peaks in demand. 

In addition, a limited number of weekend GP appointments were made available 
for patients in Darlington. 

 

 Sharing clinical experience 

GPs with a special interest, such as cardiology will be able to see patients from 
other practices in the town, without the need for a referral to hospital.  This 
flexible approach aims to reduce the strain on local hospitals such as Darlington 
Memorial. 

 

 Frail and elderly population 
 
With an ageing population, Darlington will focus on its frail and elderly population 
looking at ways to improve care locally and avoid unnecessary hospital 
admissions. 

 
The successful Challenge Fund bid will allow GPs in the town to move forward and 
finalise their plans to improve access to health services for their local population. 
 

 
Better Care Fund 
 
The Better Care Fund creates a local single pooled budget to incentivise the NHS 
and local government to work more closely together around people, placing their 
wellbeing as the focus of health and care services. 
 
In December 2014, £3.9 million of existing health funding was allocated through the 
Better Care Fund to a partnership of Darlington CCG and Darlington Borough 
Council to transform the way we care for older people in the Borough and transform 
the way that health services, care and support are provided through our multi-
disciplinary teams (MDT‟s).  Our vision is to provide a patient-centred approach to: 
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 improve patient and carer experience; 

 provide more effective care planning and packages centred on individual 
needs; 

 provide care in the community or at home where preferred 

 increase self-management; 

 increase involvement of the voluntary and community sector; 

 prevent unnecessary acute admissions/re-admissions to hospital; 

 reduce the length of stay (e.g. through multi-disciplinary teams starting to 
support patients prior to their discharge from hospital); 

 reduce the number of patients transferred to long term care. 

It is clear that the improvements in care from the new approach are reducing 
unplanned hospital admissions. 

 
Unplanned emergency care 
 

Strategic Resilience Group 
There is currently a national focus on urgent and emergency care services across 
England. In response to this, the County Durham and Darlington System Resilience 
Group (which the CCG is a member of) has been established. The System 
Resilience Group (SRG) is a forum of partners from across the health and social 
care system who come together to undertake the regular planning of service 
delivery. The SRG maintains an oversight of the health and social care system and 
enables the integration of effective high quality accessible services. In 2014/15, the 
SRG has: 

 developed and signed off operational resilience and capacity plans by involving 
all key local organisations, in order to fulfil both planning requirements and to 
ensure a good system working in the future; 

 developed an over-arching Urgent Care Strategy specifically focusing on the 
standards in Everyone Counts 2015/16 to 2019/20. The strategy sets out a joint 
vision and patient centred principles, together with solutions to achieving them. 

 

Co-location of the Urgent Care Centre 
As part of the work being taken forward to integrate the urgent and emergency care 
pathway, the CCG is currently progressing an exciting project working in conjunction 
with County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, to provide an integrated 
24/7 Urgent Care Centre at Darlington Memorial Hospital that will deliver Urgent 
Care and Emergency Department services side-by-side.    
 
The fully integrated service will provide local people with equitable access to high 
quality, safe and effective urgent and emergency care services at the right time and 
in the right place.  The project is due to complete during 2017. 
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Care of the frail and elderly 

Our prime focus in this work is to improve the patient and carer experience and 
improve outcomes for our patients.  Since our Frail Elderly Summit in November 
2013, we have made good progress on this key priority, learning from elsewhere in 
the region and developing our own agreed pathway of care for patients at high risk of 
unplanned admission with a range of stakeholders. 
  

Our focus in this work is: 
  

      more effective care planning and packages centred on the needs of our 
patients; 

      care in the community or at home where it is the preferred option; 

      support patients to self-manage; 

      prevent unnecessary hospital admissions; 

      reduce length of hospital stay. 
  

Working with our care homes, we have identified those with the highest A&E 
attendances and emergency admissions and introduced a number of 
measures.  This includes aligning a community matron and social worker, taking a 
more proactive approach to development of care plans and managing reactive 
incidents.  At weekends, an on-call matron is available should a crisis occur and we 
are working with the North East Ambulance Service to avoid unnecessary transfers 
to hospital. 
  

The development of GP practice monthly multi-disciplinary team meetings is 
another key development and is referred to in the section of the report which outlines 
priorities for 2015/16. 
  

We have recently started a „Hospital to Home‟ service, designed to prevent 
unnecessary admission and to facilitate early discharge of patients who can be 
supported in their own place of residence with additional community support. We are 
also aiming to implement a weekend community rapid assessment clinic, which 
will provide access to a geriatrician, physiotherapy, occupational therapy and seven-
day diagnostics. 
  

This work has fostered strong partnership working across the health and social care 
system, and so far resulted in a 1.9% reduction in emergency admissions (the best 
performing CCG in the North East in 2014) and a 41% reduction in admissions to 
long-term care.   
  

We have made good progress, but there is still much to do.  In the next phase, we 
will review the medical model supporting our care homes, work with the voluntary 
sector to see what additional services they could provide, such as sitter services and 
transport.  We will also continue to explore the use of assistive technologies, to help 
patients to better self-manage their conditions and make more efficient use of 
support agencies. 
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Home equipment loans service 
 
A collaboration agreement between the CCG, our neighbouring CCGs in County 
Durham, Durham County Council and Darlington Borough Council was signed-off 
and a new service designed and procured in late 2014. A new provider will be 
mobilised in July 2015 and improve the service experience for staff, carers and 
patients. 
 
Work with health and social care professionals is underway to review the current 
Home Equipment Loan Service (HELS) catalogue, with a list of „stock‟ items 
developed and disseminated to health and social care requisitioners for comment.  
 
Work on reviewing existing HELS care home policies, for County Durham and 
Darlington, to bring the two policies in line with each other has begun and will be 
completed before the new service start date. 

 

Wheelchair service review 
 
A review of the current wheelchair service was undertaken in 2014.  This review is 
ongoing and will provide information on the current service provision.  This 
information will enable the CCG to reach a decision on whether to re-procure this 
service or look at other options to improve the quality of the existing service.    

 

End of life care 
 
This year, the CCG has committed to invest in palliative and end of life care; 
securing recurring funding to increase the number of palliative care specialists to 
support practitioners across primary, secondary and community care.  It has also 
invested in the provision of specialist lymphoedema services.  The positive impact of 
these investments will mean more patients will be able to have increased specialist 
support in their preferred place of care until they die. 
 
The strategic palliative and end of life care group for County Durham and Darlington  
continues to meet, progressing the knowledge and confidence of staff, ensuring that 
our member practices are clear about those patients that would benefit from 
palliative care support, and ensuring that our care home staff are also equipped and 
supported to give good care.  

 
 
Mental health 
 
We are committed to increasing our investment in mental health services. 
 
The mental health strategy for England ‘No Health without Mental Health’ was 
published by the Department of Health in 2011.  Although both CCGs and local 
authorities commission a wide range of services, no area in the North East had 
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implemented a plan to deliver the national strategy; to help improve the mental 
health of all ages.   
 
The CCGs recognise that common mental health problems such as depression and 
anxiety are on the rise. Alongside this, it is also recognised that poor mental health is 
associated with a greater risk of physical health problems and vice versa. Because 
of these two factors, the CCGs and the local authority recognised the need for an 
implementation of the national strategy: No Health without Mental Health. This 
involved working collaboratively with a range of stakeholders to ensure the national 
objectives could be implemented locally by identifying the key priorities.   
 
A task and finish group was established which included all our key stakeholders and 
partners including; the Darlington Borough Council, our local Acute and Mental 
Health Trust, voluntary and community sector providers, service users and carers.  
The work of the group was to initially gather information from our existing knowledge 
base, as well as engaging with the wider workforce, users or past users of services 
and their family members or carers.   
 
As part of the engagement process a number of roadshows and drop-in sessions 
were held to ensure we got a strong cross section of views.  Additionally we met with 
both primary and secondary care clinicians to obtain direct clinical input into the 
plans and priorities.   
 
The final draft plan was well received and signed off by the CCGs, local authorities, 
Children and Young People‟s Partnership, and the Health and Wellbeing Board.   
Following the establishment of the high level priorities, the strategy implementation 
group took the same approach to develop the actions for the delivery of the plan. Our 
partnership approach enabled us to put both the community and people that use 
services at the heart of the design, ensuring their experience, insight and expertise 
shape the priorities.   
 
County Durham and Darlington now have a local implementation plan for the 
national strategy and governance arrangements have been agreed to ensure 
accountability that will in turn ensure that the plan is appropriately commissioned and 
delivered.   
 

Crisis care concordat 
A draft Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat (MHCCC) Declaration and draft Mental 
Health Crisis Care Concordat Action Plan was shared with partners at the County 
Durham „Big Tent‟ consultation event. The declaration has been approved by the 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and members of the Concordat project group, as well 
as published on the National Crisis Care Concordat website portal.       
                                                                                                              
Draft collective MHCCC Action Plan has been revised and approved by all key 
partner organisations in February/March 2015. 
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Parity of esteem 
The CCG is committed to the delivery of Parity of Esteem and has developed a 
financial framework whereby mental health commissioning budgets benefit from 
growth, which is in line with the CCG allocated growth figure as a minimum position. 
Any efficiencies generated through mental health services remain within the ring-
fence budget for investment in mental health services. The 2015/16 budgets and 
financial plan approved by the Governing Body in March 2015 demonstrated a 
commitment to continued increased investment in mental health and learning 
disabilities services, in line with the Parity of Esteem focus. 
 
Additionally, other funding resources which are available to CCGs, for example 
system resilience funding, is allocated to mental health schemes using the same 
principles. There are also a range of commissioned mental health liaison services 
working in acute hospitals, community services and care homes to ensure that 
people with concurrent mental health problems are able to access services 
appropriately. Further to this commitment, the CCG is developing a process whereby 
all commissioning intentions are considered for mental health impact and 
accessibility. 

 

Improved access to psychological therapies (IAPT) 
Working in collaboration with NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 
and NHS North Durham CCG, we have taken steps to improve the quality of our 
talking therapy services, including IAPT, counselling and psychological therapies.   

This work has focused on improving access for patients and addressing some of the 
individual service issues.  The CCG ran a focus group in July 2014 to capture the 
views of our patients on their experience of talking therapy services.  This 
information has been used to inform the improvements we are currently making to 
these services. 

 

Learning disabilities 
In response to the National Transforming Care agenda, developed following the 
Winterbourne View Concordat, the CCG has progressed a number of local 
developments to ensure that the health needs of people with a learning disability, 
both now and in the future, are responded to in a planned and proactive way. This 
has included the delivery of Care and Treatment reviews for patients who are in 
inpatient care without a discharge plan and the detailed planned discharge of a 
number of patients whose needs could be met outside of hospitals.    

As a CCG, we have worked very closely with our Local Authority partners to develop 
jointly commissioned solutions to some highly complex packages of care, and we are 
continuing this work with the development of some individualised bespoke 
community-based housing solutions. This has meant that we have also successfully 
contributed to the delivery of the regional ambition of a 50% patient discharge target 
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for patients identified as being without a discharge plan and whose needs could be 
met outside of hospital.    

The Northern CCG Forum (which is a collaboration of all the CCGs in the North East 
and Cumbria) has identified learning disabilities as a priority for transformation with a 
focus on achieving the national requirement to reduce the over reliance on inpatient 
beds.  An event planned for April 2015 will bring together regional partners across 
health, social care, providers, and people who use services, to agree a set of 
standards that would be used across the region to ensure a consistent delivery of 
high quality care outside of inpatient settings. 

 
Improving health for people with learning disabilities 
Uptake of annual health checks (AHCs) for people with learning disabilities has 
remained an area of concern, with Darlington remaining below the national minimum 
level.   

During 2014/15 the CCG worked closely with the Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust‟s (TEWV) health facilitation team (HFT) to offer increased training 
and awareness to GP practices.  Supported by the Darlington People‟s Parliament, 
we are working to increase this work further through the development of accessible 
resources and the use of experts by experience to improve reasonable adjustments 
to primary care.  

The CCG‟s Learning Disability Clinical Lead has been influential in taking forward a 
number of key areas in relation to improving the health of people with a learning 
disability in Darlington, and will be working closely with the People‟s Parliament to 
deliver some of the actions that have been identified to improve the delivery of 
primary care, annual health checks and health action plans. 

 

Podiatry 
The CCG will complete a review of podiatry services to address pressures on 
services due to increasing prevalence of diabetes and frail elderly.  The review will 
also explore opportunities for closer integration with the new community model of 
care for diabetes – such as diabetic foot checks.  The aim is to develop an improved 
specification and to identify the most appropriate contracting vehicle going forward, 
whether that includes a re-procurement through Any Qualified Provider (AQP) or the 
delivery of a more streamlined service through a single provider, with a view to a 
new contract being in place by April 2016. 
 
 

Other commissioning projects 
 

Eye care 
Primary Eyecare North East (PENE) were awarded a sole-supplier contract to 
provide the community intra-ocular pressure referral refinement and cataracts pre-
operative assessment service that NHS North Durham CCG; NHS Durham Dales, 
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Easington and Sedgefield CCG; and NHS Darlington CCG are collaboratively 
commissioning for the period of 1 November 2014 to 31 October 2016 with an option 
to extend for one year.  
 
PENE is acting as principal contractor, subcontracting the service to a range of 
participating optical practices from mainly within the catchment area of the three 
CCGs. 
 
The aim of the services is to achieve a reduction in inappropriate referrals to 
secondary care (outpatient ophthalmology) and to see an improvement in the detail 
included on the referrals.  
 

 
Community innovation fund – the sequel! 
The CCG repeated its popular Community Innovation Fund, using similar principles 
to the well-known television programme Dragons‟ Den. 
 
We allocated further funds to local community and voluntary groups who „pitched‟ 
their ideas to a panel of „Dragons‟, including local GPs. 
 
The first innovation fund attracted a number of high quality applications and made a 
real difference to local groups in the town. 
 
This year‟s theme focused on engaging local children and young people in creative 
and inspiring ways to enhance their quality of life, confidence and wellbeing.   
 
The successful projects were the 700 club for „Arts for Wellbeing‟, British Sports 
Trust for „Sports Leaders‟, Skerne Park Youth and Community Centre for „Sports 
Activity‟, and North Road Parent‟s Group for „Veg patch kids‟. 
 
We also provided additional funding for the 700 club to continue the „Healthy 
Lifestyle‟ project which they commenced in 2013. 
 

 
Long-term conditions collaborative 
This is a two-year programme to transform the patient and carer experience and 
offer a more efficient service to adults in Darlington suffering from multiple, physical 
long-term health conditions. 
 
At the moment, we know that it often takes too long for patients to be diagnosed and 
too many health professionals are involved.  This means that patients have to 
describe their experiences from the beginning to one or more healthcare 
professionals, which is frustrating for the patient and is not a good use of resources.   
 
The psychological wellbeing of our patients is often an issue and often goes 
overlooked.  People often don‟t know where to go for help as the system is so vast 
and often end up being passed between different parts of the service, which delays 
their treatment and has a negative impact on their experience of the service. 
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The programme focuses on two parts: Part one focuses on the patient journey - from 
diagnosis through to treatment and part two focuses on helping patients to self- 
manage their condition and looks at what support is available, particularly around 
prevention.   
 
Key to the success of the project is the involvement of partner organisations such as 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust; Darlington Borough Council; 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust; Primary Healthcare Darlington 
(the federation of Darlington‟s 11 GP practices); the community and voluntary sector; 
and private providers. 
 

Lower back pain 
The CCG is leading this programme of work, supported by all the northern CCGs, 
with evaluation by the Centre for Health and Social Care Evaluation (CHASE), 
Teesside University. 
 
Lower back pain is the largest single cause of both loss of disability adjusted life 
years, and of years lived with disability in the UK. The condition principally affects 
people of working age and those with families, and the burden of disease is 
increasing. 
 
This programme is being delivered across the North East of England and Cumbria, 
and aims to improve outcomes for patients with simple low back pain or sciatica. 
 
Patient knowledge of the condition is poor, resulting in unrealistic expectations and 
high demands on the healthcare system.  
 
The North East regional back pain pathway aims to improve the management of 
patients with low back pain and radicular pain (sciatica) in the North East of England 
and Cumbria, building on an early pilot in South Tees funded by the local Academic 
Health Science Network. The project will involve working with CCGs to better 
understand the scale of the problem in terms of direct and indirect health burden.  A 
comprehensive care pathway from the GP surgery to services in primary and 
secondary care commissioned by CCGs and specialised commissioning services will 
then be implemented.   
 
The care pathway will involve implementing existing evidence-based pathways and 
building a commissioning structure to allow the care pathway to be updated when 
new guidance becomes available.  
 
This work aims to reduce delays for patients, improve consistency in the pathway, 
eliminate ineffective therapy and improve patient outcomes.  All of these factors will 
also help to deliver cost savings for the NHS that can be reinvested in services. 
 

GOLD Tea Dance  
The CCG supported the popular GOLD (Growing Older Living in Darlington) tea 
dance, which was held in the Market Place in August 2014.   
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People visited our stall to find out more about the CCG and chat with staff about the 
work we were doing around wheelchair services and dementia. 
 
 

Musculo-skeletal (MSK) Quality Forum 
The MSK Quality Forum was established following an MSK Service Review 
Workshop event in December 2014 at the Dolphin Centre, Darlington.   
 

 The event showed overwhelming support for more collaborative working and 
a Quality Forum to be established; 

 Supported by the CCG‟s Executive (January 15) to help to inform models of 
care and to incorporate the Five Year Forward View.  The Forum will give the 
scope to develop recommendations for future services, as well as improving 
current delivery and ensuring that the pathway is well known and used 
appropriately; 

 MSK Quality Forum is now established.  Bi-monthly meetings, first one being 
March 2015.  Members include clinicians, provider staff, patients, Healthwatch 
Darlington, GP and practice staff.   

 
 

Performance 

The CCG assurance framework, published by NHS England in November 2013, 
outlines the process to be used by NHS England to monitor and gain assurance on 
the performance of CCGs. 
 
This builds upon the interim CCG assurance framework published in May 2013, and 
the subsequent engagement process undertaken by NHS England to refine the 
framework. 
 
As part of the NHS England assurance process the NHS England area team holds 
quarterly assurance meetings with the CCG, which, together with the production of a 
delivery dashboard (previously described as a „balanced scorecard‟), provides 
information on the CCG performance against certain targets and metrics. 
 
The CCG assurance process has been designed to provide confidence to internal 
and external stakeholders and the wider public that CCGs are operating effectively to 
commission safe, high quality and sustainable services within their available 
resources. This framework sets out six broad assurance domains under which this 
assessment will be made. 
 
• Are patients receiving clinically commissioned, high quality services? 
• Are patients and the public actively engaged and involved? 
• Are CCG plans delivering better outcomes for patients? 
• Does the CCG have robust governance arrangements? 
• Is the CCG working in partnership with others? 
• Does the CCG have strong and robust leadership? 
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The quarterly delivery dashboards are published on the CCG‟s website once 
finalised, together with an overall assurance report received from NHS England 
summarising the outcome of the quarterly assurance meetings. 
 
These delivery dashboards present the latest performance against relevant targets 
contained within the NHS Constitution and the NHS outcomes framework, as well as 
certain other quality and financial indicators. 
 
Although performance against certain targets within the NHS Constitution and the 
CCG outcome indicators for 2014/15 has been below expectations as outlined 
below, no areas have been identified within the assurance process where the actions 
implemented by the CCG were deemed to be insufficient or where additional support 
through NHS England was necessary. 
 

Performance against NHS Constitution targets 

CCG Outcomes Indicator Set measures are developed from NHS Outcomes 
Framework indicators that can be measured at CCG level together with additional 
indicators developed by NICE and the Health and Social Care Information Centre. 
These provide clear, comparative information for CCGs, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards, local authorities, patients and the public about the quality of health services 
commissioned by CCGs and the associated health outcomes.  
 
They are useful for CCGs and Health and Wellbeing Boards in identifying local 
priorities for quality improvement and to demonstrate progress that local health 
systems are making on outcomes. A summary of the CCG‟s performance against 
those targets during 2014/15 is set out below: 
 

Referral to treatment 
Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment within a 
maximum of 18 weeks from referral. As at 28 February 2015, Darlington CCG‟s year-
to-date performance for referral to treatment pathways treated within 18 weeks are 
all above target. The year-to-date position for 2014/15 was 95.2% for admitted 
pathways, 98.4% for non-admitted pathways and 94.4% for incomplete pathways. 
 
No patients should be waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment and Darlington CCG 
have not reported any over 52 week waits. 
 

Diagnostic test waiting times 
No more that 1% of patients should wait over six weeks for a diagnostic test. For 
diagnostic tests the latest available 2014/15 performance is 10.7% of Darlington 
patients waiting over six weeks. Overall this target has not been met by our main 
provider, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, with latest 
performance for the year being 6.6%. 
 
This is extremely disappointing for the CCG, and as a matter of priority we have put 
in place a range of actions to ensure the situation is rectified. This includes an 
investment in increased capacity from an Independent Sector provider and additional 
Urology locum capacity. The CCG has formally written to the trust with concerns 
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about the failure to deliver this indicator. The trusts demand and capacity modelling 
along with the planned actions to deliver improved performance provide assurance 
that performance will be back on track in quarter 1 2016/17.  
 

Cancer waiting times 
Darlington CCG has met the year-to-date targets for eight out of the nine categories 
for cancer waiting times. Performance for the 62 day wait urgent GP referral 
category was 83.6% (2014/15 figure), slightly below the 85% target. This category 
was under target in six months (May, August, September, November, December and 
February).  Each case that exceeded the timeframe is being reviewed to identify 
reasons for the delay but at a high level the reason reported for the majority of 
breaches fall into three categories – patient choice, capacity and complex 
diagnostics. The Strategic Clinical Network held a regional event in February 2015, 
supported by representatives from all regional providers and commissioners to focus 
on how pathways for the high volume tumour sites could be streamlined to reduce 
the pathway, improve patient and carer experience and improve performance 
against the targets. 
 

Ambulance response times 
All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75% of immediately life threatening 
calls within eight minutes. This target has been achieved at CCG level. 
 
Where onward transport is required, 95% of life-threatening calls will receive an 
ambulance vehicle capable of transporting the patient safely within 19 minutes of the 
request for transport being made. In the Darlington area, the required targets were 
not met by the ambulance provider, North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust (NEAS). The year-to-date position for 2014/15 was 93.85%.  
 
There are a number of factors affecting NEAS‟ ability to hit the response standards 
including changes to the activity patterns and capacity. Capacity is seen as the 
biggest contributing factor to NEAS. The Chief Executive of NEAS has confirmed 
that the Trust is currently operating with a shortage of 140 qualified paramedics; this 
equates to approximately 25% of their workforce and clearly presents them with a 
significant issue and is no longer sustainable.  
 
Through the utilisation of slippages in the SRG funding, NEAS have commissioned 
an additional four Double Crewed Ambulances and two Rapid Response Vehicles 
that commenced in January. It is hoped that this will have a positive impact on the 
response times for the service. Another step being taken is that NEAS have 
implemented changes to the process when queuing at A&E, allowing the release of a 
crew much more quickly and get back on the road to respond to incidents.  This is 
being monitored through the Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officer (HALO) to ensure it 
is happening and does not have any negative impacts.  NEAS are working to roll out 
this process across the region as quickly as possible through discussions with 
Foundation Trusts. 
 
 



21 
 

Healthcare associated infection 
Reducing healthcare associated infection remained a key challenge for the CCG and 
the local NHS throughout the year. 
 

 MRSA (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus) 
There is a zero tolerance of MRSA which means that all commissioner and 
provider targets are zero. The CCG reported one case in total during the year, 
which is lower than the 2013/14 outturn position of four cases.  

 Clostridium difficile 
The performance position at end of March 2015 (validated data) for the CCG 
showed 20 cases in total against a target of 20. 

 

Accident and emergency (A&E) performance 
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care. One 
key target is that 95% of patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment 
in an emergency department. Although this is not one of the CCG‟s constitutional 
indicators, it is unfortunately an area where performance against the target has not 
been achieved due to it not being met by the CCG‟s main provider, County Durham 
and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust.  
 
Performance in Q1 and Q2 was achieved. Performance declined in December, 
January and February, a trend experienced both at a regional and national level as a 
result of increased pressures and rise in demand for emergency care. Regional 
discussions have taken place to share knowledge in areas of good practice between 
other A&E departments. The CCG have put in place a range of actions to ensure the 
situation is rectified including winter resilience funding which has been used to 
increase staffing and open additional beds on a temporary basis. In addition, weekly 
escalation meetings have been re-instated, whilst the implementation of the actions 
recommended by the national Emergency Care Intensive Support Team are 
continuing to be implemented.  
 
 

Listening to and engaging with local people 

 
 

Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
My role as Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) includes seeking 
assurance that patients, carers and the public are fully involved in decision making, 
and I feel the CCG has demonstrated commitment throughout the year to realising 
their intentions under Domain Two (Meaningful engagement with patient, carers and 
their communities). The delivery of their objectives has proved to be challenging at 
times due to limited resources, but the work that has been done so far has proved 
successful in ensuring the patient voice is heard and acted upon.  
 
There is much more to do including more active involvement with the working 
population, children and young people and our Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 
Community Groups.  In order to achieve this, the CCG have been drawing on the 
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expertise of the third sector to reach a more diverse audience, as well as the public 
and private sectors to reach the educational and working population.  
 
A successful example of co-production is the new new multi-disciplinary teams 
(MDTs) that have been formed with staff from GP surgeries, Darlington Memorial 
Hospital, community and mental health staff, social workers and the third sector.  
The team work jointly with patients to ensure they get the right help as and when 
they need it, working more in the community with the aim of speeding up treatment 
and reducing unnecessary hospital visits.  They have successfully improved support 
by increasing the care people receive in their own homes, with the aid of voluntary 
organisations.  
 
Conversations are currently taking place with the local authority and Healthwatch 
Darlington to develop a sustainable approach to capturing the views of the working 
population in Darlington.  This will enable the CCG to unlock the potential of the 
“silent majority” who are traditionally not involved in engagement thus enabling the 
CCG to gain valuable insight from this often ignored group.  
 
Following the success of the Community Innovation Fund last year, applications 
were invited from the local community and voluntary sector, to bid to secure 
resources from the CCG‟s Dragons‟ Den. The fund was created to support and 
nurture health-related projects into practical and inspiring enterprises. The theme for 
this year was „Children and Young People‟ and bids were invited to demonstrate how 
it engages our local children and young people in creative and inspiring ways to 
enhance their quality of life, confidence and health and wellbeing.‟ The successful 
„pitches‟ in the Dragons‟ Den came from the 700 club for „Arts for Wellbeing‟, British 
Sports Trust for „Sports Leaders‟, Skerne Park Youth and Community Centre for 
„Sports Activity‟, and the North Road Parent‟s Group for „Veg patch kids‟. 
 
The CCG commissioned independent research for the Securing Quality in Health 
Services Project (SeQHIS) by engaging with the public via telephone interviews and 
focus groups. Its aim was to gain an understanding of what local people feel is 
important about hospital services, determine levels of understanding of the balance 
that has to be achieved between quality, access and affordability and gauge levels of 
understanding about the need for change in the NHS generally. The CCG worked 
closely with Healthwatch colleagues and CCG Lay Members across the region to 
obtain their advice about the questionnaires and development of further meaningful 
engagement with local people.  
 
Two engagement events held in February and hosted by Healthwatch Darlington 
(HWD) attracted over 100 participants. The events were held to explore with the 
public a better model of care for the future, including an explanation of the Five Year 
Forward View and what it will look like for Darlington including urgent care, primary 
care services, pharmacy services, incentives, prevention, and specialist areas. To 
capture the attention of potential attendees, the events were advertised as “A&E: 
Who‟s really in critical condition?” due to the current national media headlines.  
 
The CCG are now in the process of analysing the data received and are working with 
HWD to compose eight appropriately themed events based on the key priority 
commissioning intentions. Specific organisations dependent on their area of 
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expertise will be invited to attend the themed events as well as patients, carers and 
members of the public to ensure that public concerns and aspirations are 
consistently understood and considered in the decision-making process.  
 
The Community Council consisting of GP Patient Participant Group leaders and the 
third sector meet on a monthly basis to receive information and feedback on wide 
ranging issues.  The CCG are considering increasing membership to reach more of 
Darlington‟s diverse community as well as encouraging residents to attend the public 
Governing Body meetings. 
 
The CCG‟s continuing pledge to undertake more meaningful engagement is to be 
commended, but there also needs to be more of a commitment shown by North of 
England Commissioning Support (NECS) and member practices to understand their 
PPI requirements, in order to ensure those voices within the very heart of our 
communities are heard and acted upon throughout the decision making process. 
Michelle Thompson, Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement 
 

Engaging with our local communities 
 
Listening to, and engaging with, local people is one of the CCG‟s key priorities.  Last 
year, we made a pledge to meaningful engagement by signing up to a „Patients‟ 
Charter‟.  The Charter places meaningful engagement with patients, carers and the 
public at the centre of its work, to inform, develop and prioritise its work in 
commissioning health services on behalf of the local population. 
 
The five-point Charter was developed with the help of the CCG‟s Community Council 
and focuses on the following themes: 
 

 Meaningful voices – patient and public involvement and engagement (PPIE) 
will be fully embedded in the design and delivery of our services; 

 Leadership – there is executive level responsibility for PPIE;  

 Proactive engagement – PPIE will be innovative and meet organisational 
objectives; 

 Collaboration – building on existing links with local interest groups and 
organisations; 

 Celebration – recognising the contribution and influence of patients, carers 
and the public. 

Working closely with Healthwatch Darlington, the independent consumer champion 
for health and social care in Darlington, we have made good progress in engaging 
with local patients, their families and carers. 
 
Two engagement events at the Dolphin Centre, entitled „A&E: Who‟s really in critical 
condition?‟ were well attended and provided people with a chance to say what they 
think are the priorities the CCG should focus on when looking at models of care in 
Darlington. 
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Keep Calm Winter Campaign 
For the second year running, the Keep Calm campaign urged local people to „Keep 
calm and look after yourself‟ to combat the usual winter coughs, colds, aches and 
ailments that are common in usually healthy people at this time of the year, and 
address the increasing demand for NHS services, particularly pressure on A&E. The 
campaign was launched during Self Care Week 17-23 November 2014.  

The campaign lasted six weeks and used a variety of media with a reach of 1.9 
million, which equates to 73% of the north-east population having seen or heard the 
campaign. 

 
Website 
Our website www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk helps us to engage with our local population 
and is regularly updated with news and important corporate information. 

 
Social media 
We are keen to enter into two-way dialogue with local people and our Twitter 
account @darloccg not only allows us to share information about our work, but 
allows us to directly engage with our growing band of over 1200 followers. We plan 
to use Facebook in the near future. 

 
Media relations 
We work closely with local, regional and sometimes national media to get our 
message across.  We are keen to publicise our successes and good news stories, 
but we also work with the media to explain why we make decisions and provide an 
honest and transparent response when we are scrutinized or challenged about any 
aspect of our commissioning role. 

 
Governing Body 
The public are welcome to attend and observe our Governing Body meetings.  
Following the meetings, there is an opportunity for members of the public to ask 
questions.  Meeting dates and papers are available to view on the CCG website or 
paper copies are available on request by contacting the CCG Headquarters at Dr 
Piper House. 
 
 

Commissioning safe and effective care 

 
Securing Quality in Health Services (SEQiHS) 
 
NHS Darlington CCG is fully committed to seeking and sustaining quality care and 
services across health and social care. The Securing Quality in Health Services 
(SeQiHS) work (which builds upon the Acute Services Quality Legacy Project) will 
continue to drive this in relation to understanding the opportunities and challenges in 

http://www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk/
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achieving best-in-class levels of acute hospital services, within the likely financial 
environment and workforce constraints over the coming years.  
 
The SeQiHS report provides analysis and clinical recommendations, supported by 
wider workforce and economic modelling, with a focus on sustainable, high-quality 
care. It defines the highest standards of service quality we expect and identifies what 
factors are most important when considering the sustainability of services to meet 
these standards in the future. 
 
The implications of this work range from potential changes to be made to provider 
contracts through incorporating the agreed clinical quality standards, to potential 
service reconfiguration or new ways of commissioning services across County 
Durham and Tees Valley.  
 
It is clear from SeQiHS and the national seven-day standards work that this will 
require CCGs and Area Teams to commission care and services differently and for 
providers to develop new ways of working in collaboration that will inevitably lead to 
a realignment of services. Commissioners and providers will clearly need to work 
together closely to take this work forward in a coherent way.  
 
Darlington CCG is leading the work on behalf of the six CCGs across County 
Durham, Darlington, Tees and Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby, and the 
project will also collaborate with the Durham, Darlington and Tees Area Team with 
regards to specialised commissioning. 

 

Medicines optimisation 
During April 14 to December 14, the North of England Commissioning Support Unit 
(NECS) Medicines Optimisation (MO) team continued to provide support to the 
County Durham and Darlington Area Prescribing Committee and the County Durham 
and Darlington Drug and Therapeutics Clinical Advisory Committee on behalf of NHS 
Darlington CCG.  Support was in the form of professional secretary function to both 
committees and also in presenting reports at the request of the members of these 
two committees.  In addition, NECS MO provided professional support to the 
Darlington CCG prescribing sub-committee, which meets every two months and has 
a membership made up of GP representatives from all practices. 
 
On a monthly basis, NECS MO provided prescribing reports to practices in the CCG, 
covering practice and CCG performance against prescribing budgets and prescribing 
cost growth information. Practice performance is also reported against the County 
Durham and Darlington Prescribing Incentive Scheme. This scheme covered five 
areas of prescribing including both cost saving indicators and quality of prescribing 
indicators and the scheme has had good engagement from all Darlington CCG 
practices.  
 
During 2014, Darlington CCG also decided to use Protocols on SystmOne, which 
offers prompts to prescribers at the time of consultation in order to highlight local 
clinical guidance, potential safety warnings and opportunities for cost effective 
prescribing. This locally developed process, which is managed by the GP prescribing 
lead, has been well received by practices and has meant that there has been no 
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need to purchase in third party software at significant additional recurring annual 
costs. 
 
During 2014, NECS MO set up a number of clinical workstreams, in order to horizon 
scan and develop guidance on a number of clinical and operational issues which 
may impact on CCGs. One of the workstreams was tasked with assisting CCGs to 
take forward the UK five year Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy launched by the 
Department of Health in September 2014. This workstream developed a number of 
initiatives to support CCGs including a regional antibiotic prescribing guideline, which 
has now been presented as a smart phone app, an antibiotic awareness campaign 
and an antibiotic prescribing e-learning package. Darlington has continued to 
perform well with antibiotic prescribing and consistently had one of the lowest 
weighted prescribing rates of antibiotics in the North of England. 
 
The other NECS MO workstreams are similarly developing a suite of resources to 
assist CCGs and prescribers along with wider stakeholders and these  included a 
website showing clinical guidelines  http://medicines.necsu.nhs.uk/, a joint formulary 
website providing information regarding drug choices http://formulary.cdd.nhs.uk/ 
and the Darlington CCG GP Teamnet website which covers local prescribing issues 
and is supported by the CCG‟s GP Prescribing lead . 
 
 

Clinical quality 
Quality is at the centre of Darlington CCG‟s vision and values, and the CCG is 
dedicated to ensuring that the services we commission on behalf of the people of 
Darlington are of the highest quality in being safe and effective and providing 
patients with a good experience of care. The quality of care for patients is measured 
against the five domains of the NHS Outcomes Framework. 
 
Assurance on the quality of care delivered by the commissioned services is 
summarised in the monthly quality report. The report contains a wide range of data 
sources that monitor the effectiveness of services; this includes safety thermometer, 
incident data, complaints and quality dashboards. These reports are received by the 
CCG‟s Quality, Performance and Innovation Committee and Governing Body.     
 
As part of the contractual process with providers, clinical quality review group 
(CQRG) meetings are also held with each acute and mental health provider 
organisation; these meetings are chaired by CCG executive leads. CQRGs are also 
held with the ambulance service and independent providers, and the focus of these 
meetings is on quality assurance and provides the CCG with the opportunity to 
review and monitor areas for improvement, good practice and allows for challenge if 
areas of concern arise. The CQRGs have been pivotal to the positive relationships 
that have been developed with providers since the CCG was formed in April 2013 
and ensures that quality is reported on in an honest and transparent way.  
 
Building on the success of the CCG‟s 2013/14 commissioner assurance visit 
programme, Darlington CCG has continued to work collaboratively with neighbouring 
CCGs in County Durham on a programme of commissioner assurance visits across 
our care providers. This year, we have visited acute hospitals, mental health 

http://medicines.necsu.nhs.uk/
http://formulary.cdd.nhs.uk/
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services, the local ambulance trust, and independent and community care providers. 
This has enabled CCG representatives to experience first-hand the quality of service 
delivery and discuss experiences with both patients and staff.              
 
High level risks and issues are reported to the County Durham, Darlington and Tees 
quality surveillance group (QSG) which brings local CCG commissioners, local 
authorities, NHS England and regulators, Care Quality Commission (CQC) and 
Monitor together into one forum for sharing local intelligence.  Further examples 
where the CCG have been engaged in driving quality improvements and supporting 
the national quality agenda are as follows:    
 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)  
CQUIN was introduced over five years ago to encourage providers to improve the 
quality of care provided to patients. The framework enables commissioners to 
reward excellence by linking a proportion of a provider‟s income to the achievement 
of national and local quality improvement goals. The CCG CQUIN schemes for 
2014/15 were centred on safety, effectiveness, user experience, innovation and are 
outcome based and have included improvements in safety thermometer, dementia, 
diabetes, falls and fragility fractures. The schemes are compliant with the CCG‟s 
commissioning priorities.     
 

Serious incidents (SIs) 
The CCG is responsible for ensuring that when a serious incident occurs that there 
are measures in place to safeguard patients and to investigate the incident to 
prevent reoccurrence. The monitoring of serious incidents takes place at the 
combined County Durham and Darlington CCG serious incident panel, which is led 
by the CCG Executive Nurses. 
 

Infection Control 
The CCG Infection Prevention and Control Team (IPCT) works through effective 
leadership, education and training and surveillance of alert organisms. The IPCT has 
carried out surveillance of healthcare associated infections (HCAI) and root cause 
analysis on all pre-72 hour clostridium difficile and pre-48 hour MRSA bacteraemia 
cases. Lessons learnt from all HCAI are discussed at significant event meetings 
within general practice and at County Durham and Darlington Health and Social 
Care HCAI group. Training has been offered and delivered to a range of staff 
including medical, nursing, health and social care and administration. Unannounced 
visits to care homes have identified areas of infection control standards and 
practices which require improvement in some homes. Support has been provided to 
make improvements and information shared with other healthcare professionals. The 
team has been available to work with architects, staff within general practice and 
relevant associates to ensure that all new builds and refurbishments meet the 
required infection control standards and taken part in commissioner assurance visits 
to provider organisations to observe standards and make recommendations for 
improvement where necessary. Many challenges remain across health and social 
care and it is important that the CCG remains focused in ensuring that Infection 
Prevention and Control is seen as part of patient safety wherever care is delivered. 
 



28 
 

Safeguarding   
Integrated multi-agency working is essential to support the CCG‟s robust approach 
to safeguarding and it a key priority to keep adults and children safe. The CCG is a 
member of the local safeguarding Boards and its associated sub-groups in 
Darlington.  This provides assurance that the CCG is up-to-date with changes 
required in relation to the Care Act 2014 as well as being fully involved in 
developments around changes to multi-agency procedure, training and 
communication, and the ongoing development of a performance framework. The 
Boards ensure that lessons learned from serious case reviews, internal management 
reviews and domestic homicide reviews are embedded in practice.   
 
Throughout the year, the Safeguarding Teams have been actively involved in 
information sharing meetings which are held with adult social care, infection control 
and the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Meetings are bi-monthly and allow a route 
for intelligence gathering and joining up of concerns which can then be acted upon.  
The Adult Safeguarding Senior Manager attends a Quality Surveillance Group 
Health Safeguarding Forum, led by the Local Area Team, with meetings being held 
quarterly. As well as being an arena for sharing good practice, the meetings also 
have addressed key areas of concern regarding commissioned services. 
 
In addition the Director of Nursing, Safeguarding Senior Managers and CQC meet 
on a monthly basis to discuss higher level concerns across all areas of practice.  
Throughout the year, the CCG has continued to deliver a training programme for 
primary care and most lead GPs have now attended Level 3 training as well as 
specific sessions on the Mental Capacity Act. The safeguarding teams have also 
been supporting general practice with embedding various policies and pathways in 
practice, including domestic abuse/violence.       
 

Deep Dives 
The CCG has completed a number of deep dive reviews into areas of quality 
concern. These reviews look in detail at a number of areas including mortality and 
unexpected deaths in mental health providers. The deep dives provide the CCG 
Governing Body with assurance that safe and effective services are being delivered.                
 

Looking forward 

The CCG was established in 2013, against a backdrop of economical uncertainty 
and austerity.  We expect the next few years to be equally as challenging.  While we 
know that we have to work harder to get the most out of the finite pot of money that 
we have as leaders of the local NHS, we are excited about the future opportunities to 
work with our key partners and stakeholders to reshape health services in 
Darlington.  Along the way, we will remain focused on our vision: „Working together 
to improve the health and wellbeing of Darlington’ and will do so by working 
positively with our partners and local people. 
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Delivering from rhetoric to reality - a pledge from 
health and social care partners in Darlington 

The leaders of NHS Darlington CCG, Darlington Borough Council; County Durham 
and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust; Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust, and primary care are working together to deliver improved health and social 
care services that are sustainable for the future.  They have pledged to the following 
principles: 
 

 We will work collectively as a collaboration of commissioners and providers; 

 The interests of the patient are paramount and at the centre of what we do; 

 Because we recognise a Darlington health economy, individual organisational 
interest will not get in the way of improvements for the patient; 

 Where improvements adversely affect our partners, we will manage the 
impact as well as the improvement; 

 Transitional change can require periods of contractual stability in order to 
realise long term improvements; 

 Good practice and examples of best care and support will be spread for the 
benefit of all; 

 Our population, patients and staff will be proud of what the health and social 
care system provides; 

 By adhering to these principles, we agree that there should be no surprises. 

 
 

Developing Primary Care in Darlington – A strategic approach 
For every ten patients seen in the NHS, nine of them are via primary care and their 
local GP practice. 
 
With patient demographics evolving, people are living longer and that brings with it 
significant challenges for local healthcare services.  Older people and those with 
long-term conditions make proportionately more use of health services than any 
other population group. 
 
Increased demand for services, particularly an over reliance on our acute hospitals 
such as Darlington Memorial, coupled with working within an extremely challenging 
financial environment, are very real challenges and a credible strategy for primary 
care can play a crucial part in sustaining key frontline health services. 
 
Primary care is already at the forefront of innovative changes in health services; our 
work in reducing admissions to hospital from care homes achieved positive results, 
and the development of our multi-disciplinary teams in GP surgeries from October 
2014 is another example of primary care taking the lead to ensure the appropriate 
use of resources. 
 
Our strategy for primary care involves: 
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 Primary care taking on the role of innovator in developing new health systems 
which remove inefficiencies in the system; 

 Shared resources becomes the norm wherever practical; 

 Primary care should actively enter the market place as a potential provider of 
services; 

 Increased investment in primary care. 
 
 

Operational Plan 2015/16 
 
Our CCG Operational Plan for 2015/16 will work towards enhancing quality of life for 
people with long-term conditions, help people to recover from episodes of ill health or 
injury, ensure that people have a positive experience of care, treat and care for 
people in a safe environment and protect them from harm, and prevent people from 
dying prematurely.  To do this, we will need to work closely with Darlington Borough 
Council and colleagues from across the health and social care system, including 
Healthwatch Darlington. 
 
The future of local healthcare services will be challenging and we are excited about 
the year ahead for local healthcare services in Darlington.    
 

 
Co-commissioning of GP services 
 
We were approved by NHS England to jointly commission GP services in March 
2015.  The new primary care co-commissioning arrangements are part of a series of 
changes set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View.  The changes aim to deliver a 
new deal for primary care and another next step towards plans set out by NHS 
England‟s Chief Executive, Simon Stevens early last year to give patients, 
communities and clinicians more involvement in deciding local health services. 
  
Co-commissioning will be a key enabler in developing seamless, integrated out-of-
hospital services based around the needs of local populations. It gives greater 
commissioning power to local areas and will help drive the development of new 
integrated models of care such as multispecialty community providers and primary 
and acute care systems. 
  
Joint commissioning is part of plans set out in the Next steps towards primary care 
co-commissioning document developed by the joint CCG and NHS England primary 
care co-commissioning programme oversight group in partnership with NHS Clinical 
Commissioners, and will support the journey towards the wider strategic agenda set 
out in the Five Year Forward View.  
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Commissioning intentions, CCG and Darlington Borough Council 
2015/16 
 
Working closely with Darlington Borough Council, our commissioning intentions allow 
us to formally notify our patients, carers, stakeholders and the general public of our 
plans for the short term – usually aligned to a two-year plan.  This usually involves 
the continuation of work that has commenced already, statutory and mandatory 
elements that we MUST cater for, any newly identified priorities along with scoping 
and reviews that will help to inform our future commissioning intentions. 
 
This commissioning intention also seeks to deliver the five-year vision developed in 
2014, which in turn reflects ‘One Darlington Perfectly Placed’, along with other jointly 
agreed priority plans. 
 
NHS England‟s „Five Year Forward View‟ and „Next Steps for Co-commissioning‟ 
along with the Dalton Review will inform and focus our strategic direction and 
priorities.   
 
Together with planning guidance, statutory, NHS contract, national tariff or CQUIN 
requirements, our commissioning intentions will form a schedule of work that will be 
reflected in contracts, service development and improvement plans, service reviews 
and potential service procurements. 
 

Pooled budgets 
The CCG and Darlington Borough Council will look to pool budgets in addition to the 
Better Care Fund, in the interests of making more effective use of public funding in 
Darlington through joint commissioning and contracting of services. 
 

 
Priorities for 15/16 
 
Priority - Focus on Health & Social Care Outcomes Framework and NHS 
Constitutional standards 
 
How? 

 preventing ill health and providing better, early diagnosis and treatment of 
conditions such as cancer and heart disease; 

 focus on physical and mental health conditions such as dementia, diabetes 
and depression and join up services across GP surgeries, district nurses, 
midwives, care homes and hospitals; 

 recovery from episodes of ill health such as stroke or following injury; 

 experience better care, not just better treatment, so that local people can 
expect to be treated with compassion, dignity and respect. 

 Providing safe care – in a clean and safe environment, to reduce the risk of 
infections, blood clots and bed sores. 
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Priority – Learning impairment, including Winterbourne response 
How? We will ensure the requirements of the Winterbourne Review are 
implemented, including commissioner lead reviews and treatment plans.  Along 
 
Alongside this we will continue the development of new models of community 
provision and reduce the reliance on hospital assessment and treatment beds. 
We will ensure completion of the Learning Disabilities Self-Assessment Framework 
and develop a robust action plan to address the issues raised. 

 
Priority - Chaotic lifestyles 
How? Through the Better Care Fund segmentation work, a cohort of people that 
appear to use services chaotically was identified.  These people are accessing 
services across a wide range of stakeholders i.e. alcohol related A&E and non-
elective admissions, Social fund, along with emergency and voluntary services.  An 
early scoping exercise has been held, following which hypothesis and triggers will be 
identified, along with further data collection and testing.  This information, along with 
understanding the evidence base will be used to design a service to better suit the 
needs of these people. 
 
Priority - Mental Health 
How? 2015/16 will be the first year of the recently developed Mental Health 
Strategy, which will contribute to addressing the parity of esteem between mental 
and physical health, along with supporting delivery of the new access standards and 
targets as set out in the NHS mandate.  Priorities for implementation will be as 
follows: 
 

 delivery of an effective action plan to deliver the Crisis Care Concordat; 

 co-production of effective preventative services that address mental health 
needs earlier; 

 a continued focus on improving access and choice to psychological therapies 

 implementing a recovery approach which includes the possible development 
of a recovery college (pending evaluation); 

 building on the important role primary care plays in preventive mental health 
approaches; 

 Early Intervention in Psychosis remains an important focus as these services 
help reduce the likelihood that individuals with psychosis will relapse or be 
detained under the Mental Health Act. 

 
Priority - Older people / long-term conditions 
How? Practice-based frail elderly multi-disciplinary team (MDT) meeting have 
commenced and include GP, social worker, community matron, and third sector 
volunteers.  The MDT next phase will commence and will look at how services such 
as community nursing, intermediate care, RIACT, rehabilitation and re-ablement can 
work together to ensure wrap around care across all days of the week. 
 
The long-term conditions collaborative developed over the past 12-18 months will 
continue to progress towards implementation.  The aims of the collaborative are to 
ensure those with multiple conditions are better supported and educated i.e. through 
combined clinics in primary care for example. 
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Priority - Quality in primary care 
How? We will progress our strategic approach to primary care, which is focused on 
raising the quality of care delivered by our practices and reducing variation.  Access 
to primary care will continue to be a focus though the sustainability of the Prime 
Minister‟s Challenge Fund and the further development of Primary Healthcare 
Darlington.  Strong primary care, both as a commissioner and a provider will be 
required to develop models for the future as set out in the Five Year Forward View.  
The CCG will move towards developing co-commissioning with NHS England, 
initially as a joint approach as the first part of a journey towards full delegated 
commissioning in late 2015. 

 
Priority - Urgent Care 
How? We will ensure resilience of the healthcare system through the further 
development and work of the System Resilience Group (SRG) including the 
development of an action plan to being the implementation of the recently developed 
Urgent Care Strategy.  There has been growing pressure on urgent and emergency 
services along with delivery of national standards i.e. four hour A&E target whilst 
reducing activity in terms of non-elective activity.  They will be delivered as follows: 
 

 extend the footprint of the Emergency Department at Darlington Memorial 
Hospital, integrating Urgent Care and Paediatric Front of House; to support 
early discharge and avoid inappropriate hospital admissions; 

 review of patient transport services taking into account the integrated 
transport redesign to ensure value for money; 

 review of schemes funded through the SRG funds; 

 implementation of national recommendations set out in the Keogh Urgent and 
Emergency Care Review; 

 further review and development of ambulatory care pathways; 

 development of a divert policy to support hospitals experiencing significant 
pressure. 

 
Priority - Families, Children and Young People 
How? We will continue the implementation of the Darlington‟s Children and Young 
Person‟s Plan 2014/17.   
 
Our priority for a number of years has been the development and securing of our 
early intervention and prevention services, which are now being re-named as Early 
Help services.   
 
It is well understood that virtually every aspect of human development are laid out in 
early childhood, so giving a child the best possible start in life helps to promote the 
generally accepted desired outcomes of being healthy, staying safe, enjoying and 
achieving, making a positive contribution to society and achieving economic 
wellbeing.   
 
The best start in life is not entirely confined to early years involvement; it is also 
about early identification of risk and interventions designed to stop abuse, to tackle 
risk-taking behaviours and to support healthy development. 
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As there is a wide range of need and family circumstances we will ensure services 
are flexible enough to respond in an effective and timely way to prevent escalation of 
difficulties and levels of harm.    
 
We also know that parents deliver more outcomes than any other part of the system 
and it is necessary to consider what public services are doing to maximise this, as 
this is the most sustainable of interventions in the longer term. Mothers and fathers 
are the most significant influence on their children‟s lives, achievements and 
prospects. Effective, warm and assertive parenting gives children confidence, a 
sense of wellbeing and self-worth. It also stimulates brain development and the 
capacity to learn, and is a hugely protective factor for children‟s outcomes. 
 
Implementation of the above includes delivery of statutory services along with new 
initiatives such as the development of collaborative residential children‟s homes 
framework across Tees Valley local authorities,  led by Darlington; the continued roll 
out of free two-year-old nursery places; the development of leaving care services 
and the 0-5 commissioning of Health Visiting, School Nursing & Family Nurse 
Partnership transfers to the local authority with Public Health, which gives the 
opportunity to review and improve the entire pathway.   
 
Service reviews and strategy development will feed into implementation plans in 
areas such as autism, Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS); 
community nursing services and Special Educational Needs reforms. 
 
 
 

Darlington Unit of Planning 
 
The Unit of Planning was established to set common goals and work closely together 
to develop services in Darlington that will help people live longer, healthier lives. 
The group comprises Darlington CCG, Darlington Borough Council, and various 
NHS health and social care partners. 
 
The unit shares an „Ambition for Excellence‟ that delivers right care, in the right 
place, at the right time and with no waste.  This means: 
 

 all organisations work together as a collaboration of commissioners and 
providers; 

 the health and wellbeing of the people of Darlington is paramount and at the 
centre of what we do; 

 individual organisational plans will not get in the way of service improvement 
for the people of Darlington; 

 where improvements affect other organisations we will work together to 
manage the change; 

 best care and support is shared by all organisations to benefit all those using 
the services; 

 our „people‟, patients, carers, public and staff will be proud of the care and 
services delivered. 
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The Unit of Planning has established a vision that will be delivered over the following 
five years.  We will fully involve local people and stakeholders as we move forward 
with this agenda. 
 
 
 

Sustainability and the environment 

Our approach to sustainable development sets out our commitment to work in ways 
which maximise the health, social and economic benefits our activities bring to the 
community while minimising our impact on the environment. 
 
Sustainable development requires us to be mindful of the need to safeguard the 
future in all of our choices, decisions, and actions. Wherever possible, we should 
take opportunities to contribute positively to the local economy and community, 
reduce waste and utilities consumption, and minimise any negative impact on the 
environment both now and for future generations. 
 
Working in a sustainable way means rethinking a lot of what we do. It affects not only 
the major strategic decisions we take but also how we go about our daily business. 
 
Getting these decisions right will not only help us save money, eliminate 
unnecessary waste in the system and reduce our carbon footprint; it demonstrates to 
partners and the public that the CCG is dedicated to enhancing individuals‟ wellbeing 
through our work as commissioners of high quality health services, but also by 
enhancing the wellbeing of the local and global community through taking seriously 
our corporate responsibilities. 
 

Travel 
We encourage sustainable travel wherever possible. We offer a reduced cost public 
transport initiatives and are developing a cycle-to-work scheme. We offer shower 
facilities and cycle parking where we can. We also promote care closer to home and 
home working opportunities where possible. 
 

Waste 
We work hard to minimise the creation of waste and have a robust approach to 
recycling paper, cardboard, glass, metal, ink cartridges, and batteries.  Electrical 
goods and confidential waste are all recycled. 
 

Workforce development 
All of our staff are encouraged to work sustainably, we promote environmental 
awareness, encourage low carbon travel and facilitate flexible working where 
possible. 
 

Utilities usage 
Where possible we try and reduce our electricity, gas and water consumption. For 
example, we have a policy to make sure we switch off our lights and close down 
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computers when they are not being used and we‟re looking to reduce our carbon 
footprint as much as possible. In summary, for 2014/15, our usage has been as 
follows: 
 
    
 

Summary data provided by NHS Property Services  
2014/15 

 

Electricty Useage (kWh)           246243 Electricity Cost                 £36,797.94 

Gas Useage (kWh)                      226472 Gas Cost                      £6,074.37 

Water Useage (units)                  1851.74
                                         (Estimate) 

Water Cost                      £4,734.82 
  
 

   
Notes:  

 information provided by NHS Property Services; 

 water consumption calculation - water consumption has been calculated from 
costs on the basis of using a conversion factor of £2.55696 per cubic meter. 
This conversion figure is an average of ten water company charges for both 
Fresh Water supply and Sewerage processing from 2013 and 2014 that 
supply NHS Property Services properties; 

 electric consumption calculation - where no details are available for electric 
consumption the consumption figures have been estimated using a 
conversion factor of 12.8 pence per unit. This conversion figure is based on 
an average taken from a representative sample of NHS Property Services 
properties; 

 gas consumption calculation - where no details are available for gas 
consumption the consumption figures have been estimated using a 
conversion factor of 2.4978 pence per KWh. This conversion figure is based 
on an average taken from a representative sample of NHS Property Services 
properties. 

 

 
Equality & Diversity 

 

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
NHS Darlington CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality and Human 
Rights into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, 
employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving 
people in our work. Equality and diversity training is a mandatory requirement for 
CCG staff.  
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The work done towards advancing equality of opportunity and meeting the legal 
requirements has been published on our website, including the Equality Strategy, 
EDS and the Equality Objectives.  

 

Equality Delivery System  
The CCG has used the Equality Delivery System (EDS) to assist in compliance with 
legislation. EDS ensures that those with “Protected Characteristics” are taken into 
account in everything we do. It also encourages a more representative workforce, 
ensuring staff are supported and that those at the highest level are committed to 
promoting equality. The CCG has used to EDS to shape its Equality Objectives. The 
Governing Body has delegated responsibility to the Governance, Audit and Risk 
Committee to oversee the development of policy, strategy and practice and also to 
ensure the Equality Objectives are being met.   

Our Staff Gender Profiles 
The CCG staff gender profile is given in Table 1. This reflects our gender 
representation on the Governing Body, Very Senior Manager (VSM) staff and all 
CCG staff.   
 

NHS Darlington CCG Gender Profile  
 

 Female Male 

Governing Body 5 4 

VSM 1 1 

CCG Employees 8 3 

 
 
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement 
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms 
and conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and 
work rated as of equal value, and being entitled to equal pay. 

 
 

Staff sickness absence 
 
The table below shows staff sickness absence figures for the 2014 calendar year, 
based on Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staffing levels of 11.16 
 

Average sickness absence – over 2014 calendar year 1.4% 

FTE days lost to sickness absence 35 

Average sick days per FTE 3.1 
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Promoting Equality and Diversity 
Staff across the CCG have access to an online and paper based copy of a multi-faith 
Diversity Calendar for both 2014 and 2015 designed by our Equality and Diversity 
Manager within the commissioning support unit. This calendar highlights key dates in 
order to promote the positive work that can be achieved when Equality and Diversity 
principles are embedded within an organisation. We also receive the Diversity 
Matters newsletter on a quarterly basis to keep all staff up-to-date on current 
diversity issues, news and key diary dates.  

Accessibility and Communications 
The CCG‟s public buildings are accessible for people with a disability. Information for 
patients and the general public is available in other languages or formats such as 
large print or Braille and audio upon request. The CCG has earned the two tick 
„positive about disabled people‟ symbol awarded by Jobcentre Plus which 
demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled 
staff. 

Health and Safety at work 
NHS Darlington CCG has legal and statutory obligations under the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974, and subsequent regulations to ensure the Health, Safety and 
Welfare of its employees and those visiting its premises. 
 
North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) are contracted to provide Health 
and Safety/Fire and Security Services to Darlington CCG, therefore NECS are 
responsible for Health and Safety/Fire and Security and the CCG as an employer are 
accountable. 
 
NHS Darlington CCG formed as an organisation in April 2013 and over the last 24 
months there has been a considerable amount of work undertaken to meet and 
deliver its legal obligations around Health and Safety/Fire.   
 
The CCG continues to strive for continued improvement and performance around 
Health and Safety and to minimise incidents in relation to Health and Safety, 
ensuring a safe working environment for its staff and visitors to its premises. 
 
To ensure compliance with Health and Safety/Fire and Security, NHS Darlington 
CCG have undertaken the following work: 
 

 drafted Health and Safety Strategy which sets out the framework for 

Health and Safety within the organisation;  

 annual Health and Safety Audits to ensure compliance against all 

legislation relevant to the CCG; 

 annual work plans to ensure work around strategy is taken place and 

completed; 

 regular governance meetings around work plan; 

 policies and procedures in place details the organisations requirements 

around legislation which also details individual‟s responsibilities and also 

detail around gaining assurance on the requirements.  
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Research and development 

Darlington member practices recruit to academic and commercial research studies 
including, patients with diabetes and cardiovascular disease. This is predominantly in 
to Felix House and Carmel Practice.  The CCG research lead is Professor Ahmet 
Fuat, who works regionally to develop and deliver cardiovascular studies.   
Nationally, about 30% of GP practices are research active.  With only 11 practices in 
NHS Darlington CCG, two are very active with a few others supporting research on 
an ad hoc basis.   
  
 
 

Financial review 

 
Financial performance 
 
The financial accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS 
Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
Robust systems of financial governance and financial management monitored by the 
CCG‟s Finance Committee have ensured that financial risks were appropriately 
identified and managed during the year enabling the delivery of all financial targets. 
 
Financial Allocations 
 
CCGs are set resource limits on an annual basis and must contain their expenditure 
within these limits. Separate resource limits are set for revenue and capital 
expenditure, with revenue expenditure limits further split between programme spend 
and running (management and administrative) costs: 
 

 Programme Budget Allocation – funding for direct healthcare expenditure. The 
CCG allocation for programme spend was £137.6 million; 

 Running Cost Allowance – funding for the administrative costs of running the 
CCG. The CCG allocation for running costs was £2.6 million. 

 

 
 
 
Financial targets and performance for the year 
 
In accordance with NHS England financial planning guidance, the CCG is required to 
deliver a surplus of at least 1% (£1.4 million) of available resources. The CCG has 
delivered a surplus of £1.8 million (1.3%) due to the return of a proportion of the 
CCG‟s contribution to the national continuing healthcare risk pool being returned by 
NHS England towards the end of the year. 
 



40 
 

Due to prudent financial planning and management, the CCG‟s financial 
performance in 2014/15 is much improved compared to 2013/14 when we failed to 
deliver our planned 1% surplus. 
 
The CCG was unable to agree a contract value and conditions with its major acute 
and community provider, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, and 
entered into an arbitration process which concluded in February 2015. The financial 
impact of the arbitration outcome was not significant and is reflected in the CCG 
accounts. 
 
The CCG has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 
Our performance against these duties is included in note 24 of the full annual 
accounts which are published with this report. 
 
The CCG‟s results in 2014/15 are set out in the table below with further detail 
included in note 5 of the full annual accounts. 
 

 
 
 
The chart below indicates how the CCG‟s funding was split across the services we 
commission: 
 

 

Target Outcome Delivered Target

Achieved

Deliver surplus on revenue budgets of at least 1%

 Surplus of £1.8m on 

revenue allocation of 

£140.2m 


Maintain Running Costs within allowance

 Running cost spend £2.5m 

against allowance of £2.6m 

Maintain capital spending within capital resource 

limit

 No capital resource 

allocated to the CCG and no 

spend incurred 

N/A

Ensure cash spending is within the cash limit set

 Cash managed within 

available resources 

Acute Services

Mental Health Services

Community Health
Services

Continuing Care
Services

Primary Care Services

Other

Corporate Costs and
Services
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During the year, the CCG funded a number of service developments and 
improvements including: 
 

 a pilot scheme to provide a rapid response nursing service to palliative care 
patients; 

 enhancement of mental health liaison services; 

 multi-disciplinary teams comprising health, social care and voluntary sector to 
support patients who are at high risk of hospital admission; 

 provision of enhanced GP and Community Matron support to residential 
homes in Darlington.  

 
 

Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code 
 
The CCG signed up to the Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) in 2013/14.  The 
code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices within 30 days of receipt of a 
valid invoice, or the due date if later. 
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within 
agreed contract terms. Details of the CCG‟s compliance with the code are shown in 
note 5.1 to the Financial Statements. 
 

 
 
 
Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with 
performance maintained at over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt 
measured against both total invoice value and overall volume of invoices. 

 
Looking Forward 
 
The coming years will present significant financial pressures to Darlington CCG as 
the need for health services is expected to grow faster than our funding. It is clear 
that the existing models and pattern of service provision are unlikely to sustain 
service quality and reasonable access in the light of foreseeable financial 
settlements.  
 
In developing our plans for the next five years, we have set a clear direction of travel 
that requires us to work closely with healthcare providers and other partners such as 
the local authority, to secure the continuity of high quality healthcare services for the 
population of Darlington. In so doing, we will continue to put the patient at the centre. 
This will involve the redesign of some services with a greater focus on the provision 
of care outside of acute hospital settings where safe and appropriate.  
 
The Better Care Fund (BCF), a single pooled budget of £9.5 million across the CCG 
and local authority designed to enable transformation in integrated health and social 
care will be a key enabler of this for Darlington.  

Non NHS NHS

Target 95.0% Target 95.0%

Result by Number 96.1% Result by Number 99.3%

Result by Value 97.1% Result by Value 99.8%
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Members’ report 

Governing Body  

The Governing Body is responsible for reviewing decisions and formally approving 
all the plans for NHS Darlington CCG.  Details of Members of the Membership Body 
and Governing Body are below. 
 

Governing Body: 
 

Andrea Jones, Chair 
Originally from Leeds Andrea qualified as a doctor from the University of Newcastle, 
and started work as a GP in 1990. As Chair of the Darlington CCG, her role includes 
overall responsibility of the Governing Body and engagement of clinicians, the public, 
patients and key stakeholders. 

Martin Phillips, Chief Officer 
Martin joined the NHS in 1984 as a graduate working in Sunderland. He has 
accumulated almost 30 years of experience in the North East, working in a range of 
operational, planning and commissioning roles. He took the CCG through the 
assurance process to become formally established. 

Richard Harker, Quality Lead  
Richard was born and bred in Darlington and has been a GP for 28 years.  His main 
interests are quality in general practice and performance assessments of doctors 
giving concern. 

Angela Galloway, Secondary Care Clinician (from October 2014) 
Angela is a Pathologist by background and currently fulfils the same role for North 
Durham CCG. She is currently filling this post on an interim basis until the end of 
August 2015. 

Michelle Thompson BEM, Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement  
A volunteer who lost her sister to cancer then survived the disease herself, Michelle 
has pledged to ensure a strong voice for patients.  She raises funds and awareness 
for Macmillan Cancer Support, and was recently appointed CEO of Healthwatch 
Darlington having previously been the chair of the organisation. 

John Flook, Governance Lay Member 
John has a wealth of NHS and financial expertise built up during his 20 years‟ 
experience as Director of Finance and in non-executive roles across the North East. 

Andie Mackay, Lay Member  
Andie is a serving firefighter with over 27 years‟ experience with the County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service.  Andie will chair the CCG and NHS 
England joint committee for commissioning primary medical care services. 
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Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer 
Lisa joined from South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, where she was Chief 
Operating Officer for the Community Services Division.  Prior to joining the NHS in 
2008, Lisa worked for BASF plc, National Power plc and Nike Inc. 
 
Gill Findley, Chief Nurse 
Gill trained as a Registered General Nurse and Registered Sick Children‟s Nurse at 
Great Ormond Street Hospital for Sick Children in London. Following qualifying, Gill 
worked on the paediatric neurosurgical intensive care unit at Great Ormond Street 
Hospital. Most recently, Gill has worked at County Durham and Darlington 
Foundation Trust and North East Ambulance Service. Gill is also Director of Nursing 
for NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG. 

 
 

Member practices 
Blacketts Medical Practice   
63-65 Bondgate  
Darlington  
County Durham 
DL3 7JR 

Felix House Surgery 
Middleton Lane 
Middleton St George  
County Durham  
DL2 1AA 

Orchard Court Surgery 
Orchard Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 6HZ 

Carmel Medical Practice  
Nunnery Lane  
Darlington  
County Durham  
DL3 8SQ 

Parkgate Surgery  
Park Place 
Darlington  
County Durham  
DL1 5LW 

Rockliffe Court 
Hurworth Place 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL2 2DS 

Clifton Court Medical Centre 
Victoria Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 5JN   

Moorlands Surgery 
139a Willow Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 9JP 

Whinfield Surgery  
Whinbush Way 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 3RT  

The Surgery  
Denmark Street  
Darlington  
County Durham  
DL3 0PD 

Neasham Road Surgery 
186 Neasham Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 4YL 
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Governing body and committees members 2014/15 CCG  
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Karen Crook 
 

Practice Manager for Carmel Medical Practice   M (4)    M (0) IA  

Sarah Dodsworth 
 

Practice Nurse Representative for Whinfield Medical 
Practice 

  M (3)   M (10)    

Gill Findley Chief Nurse and Quality Lead M (5) M (12) IA   M (10) 
VC (3) 

M (5)   

John Flook 
 

Governance Lay Member M (4)    C (5)    M (1) 

Victoria Foot 
(Sept - Mar) 

GP    M (2)   M (5)    

Ahmet Fuat 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Carmel Medical 
Practice 

     M (2)    

Angela Galloway 
(Nov – Mar) 

Secondary Care Clinician M (3)    M (0) M (1)    

Angela Gill 
(April) 

Practice Nurse Representative for Whinfield Medical 
Practice 

     M (1)    

Lucy Hansen 
(Apr – May) 

Secondary Care Clinician     M (0) M (0)    

Richard Harker Quality Lead, GP Partner and Practice Representative 
for Whinfield Medical Practice 

M (4) M (8) M (3)  M (5) C (9)    

Patrick Holmes 
(Apr – Sept) 

Practice Representative for Felix House Surgery   C (1) M (1)      

Paul Irving 
 

Practice Manager for  Moorlands Surgery   M (1)     IA  

Andrea Jones 
 

Chair C (6) M (7) IA C (1)     C (1) 

Jackie Kay 
 

Assistant Chief Officer IA  M (3) IA M (1)  M (1)  IA  

Gail Linstead 
 

Commissioning Manager IA      M (9) IA   

Andie Mackay Lay Member  M (4)    M (6) M (10) M (1) 
C (6) 

  

Adrian Marshall 
(Feb – Mar) 

Practice Representative for Felix House Surgery   M (1)   M (1)    

Christopher Mathieson 
(Apr – Dec) 

GP and Practice Representative for Neasham Road 
Surgery 

  M (1) M (1)      
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Charles McGarrity 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Parkgate Surgery      M (1)    

Alison McNaughton-Jones GP and Practice Representative for Rockliffe Court 
Surgery 

  M (2) 
C (1) 

  M (7)    

James Nevison GP and Practice Representative for Denmark Street 
Surgery 

  M (3) M (1)   M (6) IA  

Basil Penney 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Carmel Medical 
Practice 

  M (3)       

Martin Phillips 
 

Chief Officer M (5) C (10) IA M (1)    IA IA 

Andreas Russ GP and Practice Representative for Neasham Road 
Surgery 

  M (1)       

Matthew Sawyer 
(Apr - Sept) 

GP and Practice Representative for Clifton Court 
Medical Centre 

     M (2)    

Anthony Shaw 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Moorlands 
Surgery 

  M (3)   M (5)    

Jenny Steel 
(Apr – May) 

GP and Practice Representative for Blacketts Medical 
Practice 

  M (1) M (1)      

Richard Stevens 
 

GP and Practice Representative for Orchard Court 
Surgery 

  M (3)    M (7)   

Lisa Tempest 
 

Chief Finance Officer M (6) M (12) IA  IA  C (3) 
M (6) 

  

Michelle Thompson 
 

Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement  M (6)    M (6) M (10)  C (11) M (1) 

Gomathy Umashankar 
(May – Mar) 

GP and Practice Representative for Blacketts Medical 
Practice 

  M (1)    M (4)   

 
Key 
C Chair 
M Member 
IA In Attendance
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Non-CCG Employed Committee Attendees 
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Carole Atherton 
 

Designated Safeguarding Nurse Children    IA    

Mike Brierley Head of Customer Programme, North of England Commissioning Support 
Unit 

 IA      

Ken Brown 
 

Participation Group Representative for Denmark Street Surgery        

Liane Cotterill Senior Governance Manager, North of England Commissioning Support 
Unit 

  IA IA IA   

Miriam Davidson 
 

Director of Public Health, Darlington Borough Council IA IA      

Lis Dunning Senior Commissioning Finance Manager, North of England 
Commissioning Support 

       

Carole Ferguson 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Carmel Medical Practice      M  

Kay Fletcher 
 

HR Business Partner, North of England Commissioning Support Unit       IA 

Kenneth Frid 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Parkgate Surgery      M  

Sue Goat 
 

Adult Safeguarding Lead    IA    

Andrea Goldie 
 

Healthwatch Darlington      IA  

Karen Grundy 
 

eVolution      IA  

John Hodge 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Whinfield Surgery        

Barbara Hope 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Orchard Court Surgery      M  

Betty Hoy 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Moorlands Surgery      M  

Katharine Humby 
(Apr – May) 

Senior Clinical Quality Officer, North of England Commissioning Support 
Unit 

   IA    

Kirsty Kitching Senior Commissioning Manager – Provider Management, North of 
England Commissioning Support 

    IA   

Audrey Lax 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Blacketts Medical Practice      M  

Diane Lax Healthwatch Darlington        
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Graham Levett 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Middleton St George      M  

Charlotte Linton 
 

eVolution      IA  

Barbara Nimmo Medicines Optimisation Pharmacist, North of England Commissioning 
Support 

   IA    

Sue Nuttall 
 

Safeguarding Adults Senior Manager    IA    

Helen Osborn 
(May – Mar) 

Senior Clinical Quality Officer, North of England Commissioning Support 
Unit 

   IA    

Murray Rose  
 

Director of People, Darlington Borough Council IA       

Andrew Rowlands Senior Commissioning Support Officer – Provider Management, North of 
England Commissioning Support Unit 

   IA IA   

Kevin Scollay Senior Finance Manager – Commissioning Finance, North of England 
Commissioning Support 

    IA   

Andrew Stainer Senior Commissioning Manager – Service, Planning and Reform, North of 
England Commissioning Support Unit 

    IA   

Terry Taylor 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Neasham Road Surgery      M  

Kath Wall 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Denmark Street Surgery      M  

Jenny Young 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Blacketts Medical Practice      M  

Jean Thurkettle 
 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Parkgate Surgery      M  

 
Key 
C Chair 
M Member 
IA In Attendance 
 
The internal and external auditors attend the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee. 
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Register of interests (2014/2015) 
 
Name Designation Gifts & 

Hospitality 
Remuneration Related 

Undertakings 
Contracts Houses, Land 

& Buildings 
Shares & 
Securities 

Non-Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Andrea Jones CCG Chair No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Richard Harker DCCG Quality Lead 
GP Partner and Practice 
Representative for 
Whinfield Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

Partner, 
Whinfield 
Medical 
Practice 
GMC Associate 

Member of 
County Durham 
and Darlington 
LMC 

No interest 
declared 

Owns a share 
in Whinfield 
Medical 
Practice 

No interest 
declared 

Vice Chair of 
Board of 
Trustees St 
Theresa‟s 
Hospice 
(Apr – Dec) 

No interest 
declared 

Martin Phillips 
 
 
 

Chief Officer No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Wife is 
employed as a 
Paediatric 
Physiotherapist 
at CDDFT. 
Member of 
UNITE 
Chair of 
Darlington 
Harriers 
Athletic Club 

No interest 
declared 

Lucy Hansen 
(Apr - May) 

Secondary Care Clinician No interest 
declared 

Full time 
employment at 
Northumbria 
Healthcare 
NHS 
Foundation 
Trust 
& Medical 
Major Incident 
Commander for 
North East 
Ambulance 
Service 
 

Principal 
Investigator 
undertaking a 
non-
interventional 
study of the use 
of rivaroxaban 
vs warfarin for 
deep vein 
thrombosis. 
Funded by 
Bayer into 
Northumbria 
trust research 
fund 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Angela Galloway 
(Nov – Mar) 

Secondary Care Clinician No interest 
declared 

Governing 
Body Member 
of North 
Durham CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Trustee and 
Vice Chair of St 
Cuthbert‟s 
Hospice 
Durham 

No interest 
declared 

John Flook 
 

Lay Member Governance No interest 
declared 

NHS 
Professionals 
Ltd – Senior 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

British 
Orienteering 
Independent 

No interest 
declared 
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Non Executive 
Hummersknot 
Academy Trust 
– Director. 
Sport England 
– Independent 
Member Audit 
Committee 

Board Member 

Michelle 
Thompson 
 

Lay Member PPI/PPE No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Chair of 
Healthwatch 
Darlington and 
Fundraiser and 
advocate for 
Macmillan 
Cancer Support 

No interest 
declared 

Andie MacKay 
 

Lay Member No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Lisa Tempest 
 
 
 

Chief Finance Officer No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Sister is 
employed as 
Podiatrist by 
North Tees and 
Hartlepool FT 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Gill Findley Chief Nurse and Quality 
Lead 

No interest 
declared 

Company 
Secretary for 
Magnitas Ltd. 
Governing 
Body Member 
for Durham 
Dales, 
Easington and 
Sedgefield. 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Jackie Kay Assistant Chief Officer No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Partner is an 
employee of 
ISS Mediclean 
who provide 
hard and soft 
facilities 
management 
services to 
County Durham 
& Darlington 
NHS Trust 

No interest 
declared 

Murray Rose Director of Services for 
People, Darlington 
Borough Council 

No interest 
declared 

Employed by 
Darlington 
Borough 
Council 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared  

No interest 
declared 

Miriam Davidson Director of Public Health, 
DBC 

No interest 
declared 

Employed by 
Darlington 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 
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Borough 
Council 

Gail Linstead 
 
 

Commissioning Manager No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

James Carlton Salaried GP No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Charlotte Holt PA to Chief Officer & 
Chair, Darlington CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Glenda Lynn PA to Chief Officer & 
Chair, Darlington CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Stephanie Edge Administration Assistant No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Rachael White Administration Assistant No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Angela Gill 
(April) 

Practice Nurse 
Representative 

No interest 
declared 

Employed by 
GP Practice 
member of the 
CCG, Whinfield 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Patrick Holmes 
(Apr – Sept) 

Practice Representative 
for Felix House Surgery 

Occasionally 
receives 
funding to 
cover travel 
and 
accommodation 
to attend the 
National & 
International 
Congresses by 
Pharmaceutical 
Companies 

Occasionally 
works for a 
number of 
pharmaceutical 
companies.  
Research 
grants 
State/Education 
+ Industry 

Director of 
Middleton 
Pharmacy Ltd, 
DL2 1BN 
Partner at Felix 
House Surgery 
DL2 1AA 

No interest 
declared 

Part-own some 
land in 
Middleton St 
George, close 
to High Scrogg 
Farm (potential 
land for 
developing a 
future surgery) 

Owns shares in 
a managed 
fund – it is 
possible that 
this may be 
healthcare 
related.  Fund 
is not managed 
by Dr Holmes 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Matthew Sawyer 
(Apr – Sept) 

GP and Practice 
Representative for Clifton 
Court Medical Centre 
 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Chris Mathieson 
(Apr – Dec) 

GP Practice 
Representative for 
Neasham Road Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Provides 
backfill 
sessions in the 
CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

James Nevison GP Partner and Practice 
Representative, Denmark 
St Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Partner at 
Denmark St 
Surgery 

Partner in GP 
Practice who 
may hold 
contract with 
CCG in future 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Jenny Steel GP and Practice No interest No interest Director of No interest No interest No interest No interest No interest 
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(Apr – May) 
 

Representative for 
Blacketts Surgery 
 
 

declared declared Blacketts Skin 
& Laser Clinic 

declared declared declared declared declared 

Charles McGarrity GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Parkgate Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Member of the 
Sedgefield 
locality 
executive 
committee of 
DDES CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Anthony Shaw GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Moorlands Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Ahmet Fuat GP and Practice 
Representative for Carmel 
Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Alison 
MacNaughton-
Jones 

GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Rockliffe Court Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Partner at 
Rockliffe Court 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Richard Stevens 
 

GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Orchard Court Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Partner at 
Orchard Court 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Joint owner of 
Orchard Court 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Basil Penney 
 

GP and Practice 
Representative for Carmel 
Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 
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Pension liabilities  
Treatment of pension liabilities in the accounts is outlined in note 1.8.2 and 3 of the 
accounts.   
 

Sickness absence data 
A table is included in the employee benefits note to the financial statements and 
shown in note 3.1 of the accounts. 
 

External auditors 
Following a procurement process undertaken by the Audit Commission, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were appointed as auditors to the CCG for 2014/15. 
The cost of audit services can be found in note 3.5 of the CCG‟s annual accounts. 
 
The auditors took an annual audit plan to the Governance, Audit and Risk committee 
for approval. 
 
This confirmed that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would 
include any details of non-audit work if applicable. When considering whether the 
level of non-audit work is appropriate, the CCG would consider if the auditors 
continue to be independent. 
 

Disclosure of serious untoward incidents 
Information on the disclosure of serious untoward incidents is referenced in the 
governance statement which can be found on page 65. 
 

Cost allocation and setting of charges for information  
We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury‟s guidance on cost 
allocation and the setting of charges for information. 
 

Principles for remedy  
Principles for Remedy published by the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsmen in May 2010 have been adopted by the CCG as part of best practice 
recommendations within the complaints procedure. 
 

Employee consultation 
We have regular communication with our employees at Darlington CCG. Some of 
the mechanisms that we include are: 
 

 our chair and chief officer report and an overview of our governing body is 
sent to all employees; 

 monthly stakeholder bulletin that is circulated to employees; 

 regular news and updates are cascaded throughout the team; 

 weekly staff meeting and monthly members‟ assembly meetings; 

 the use of our website and intranet, Communications Wall and GP Teamnet. 
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Disabled employees  
We have policies in place in relation to disabled employees to ensure all employees 
and potential employees are treated fair and equally. All staff undertake mandatory 
training which includes equality and diversity legislation.  
 

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response 
We certify that the CCG has incident response plans in place, which are fully 
compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 
2013. The CCG regularly reviews and makes improvements to our major incident 
plan and have a programme for regularly testing this plan, the results of which are 
reported to the Governing Body. 
  

Countering fraud and corruption 
Our counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisations 
financial viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the 
Governance, Audit and Risk Committee, which focuses on the deterrence, 
prevention, detection and investigation of fraud. 
 
Counter fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically discussed with 
both the Governing Body and wider CCG employees during the year, to cement their 
knowledge and understanding of Counter Fraud arrangements, with all employees 
also required to complete e-learning training. 

 
Statement as disclosure to auditors 
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members‟ 
Report is approved confirms: 
 

 So far as the member is aware there is no relevant audit information of which 
the CCG external auditor is unaware 

 That the member has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a 
member in order to make them self-aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG‟s auditor is aware of that information 

 
 
Martin Phillips was in post as Chief Officer for the duration of the financial year 
however due to unforeseen circumstances he was not available to sign the annual 
report on 28 May 2015. As a consequence Ali Wilson, Chief Officer and Accountable 
Officer of NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group has 
stepped in as Acting Accountable Officer to discharge this responsibility for NHS 
Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 
Acting Accountable Officer 
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Remuneration report 

Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee (not 

subject to audit) 

The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee was established to advise the 
Governing Body about pay and other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief 
Officer and other senior staff.  
The committee comprised: 
 

 Andrea Jones, CCG Chair and Chair of Remuneration and Terms of Service 
Committee 

 Michelle Thompson, Lay Member 

 John Flook, Lay Member 

 Andie Mackay, Lay Member (from 1 April 2014) 
 

Further detail of membership of the committee and attendance at meetings is 
included in the Governing Body and Committee Members section of this report. 
 

The policy of the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee on the 
remuneration of senior managers is to adopt Department of Health guidance on all 
aspects of senior managers pay. There were no variations to this policy in 2014/15 
and the remuneration for senior managers during the financial year was determined 
in accordance with national policy. 
 

Senior Management Service Contracts (not subject to audit) 
All CCG senior managers hold permanent contracts which have no end date 
or unexpired term. In the event of termination, in line with employment legislation, the 
only liabilities would be for notice pay and, if applicable, redundancy pay. For the 
CCG senior managers listed below redundancy pay would be one months' salary for 
each complete year of NHS service up to a maximum of 24.  
 

 Andrea Jones, CCG Chair  

 Martin Phillips, Chief Officer 

 Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer 

 Jackie Kay, Assistant Chief Officer 
 
Elizabeth Graham left her post of Chief Nurse for Darlington CCG in March 2014.  
Gill Findley was seconded to this post from April 2014 to March 2015 a part time 
basis from Durham Dales and Easington CCG where she is employed as Director of 
Nursing. 
 
Notice periods for the CCG senior managers are as below:  
 

 Andrea Jones, CCG Chair – Six months; 

 Martin Phillips, Chief Officer – Six months; 

 Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer – Six months; 

 Jackie Kay, Assistant Chief Officer – 12 weeks. 
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Darlington CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances 2014/15: (subject to 

audit) 

 

 

 

Payments for Loss of Office (subject to audit) 
No individual who was a senior manager in the current or in a previous financial year has received a payment for loss of office 
during the financial year. 
 

Salary & Fees Taxable Benefits

Annual 

Performance 

Related 

Bonuses

Long-term 

Performance 

Related Bonuses

All Pension 

Related Total

(Bands of

(Rounded to the 

nearest (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of

£5000) £00) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000)

Name Position £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000

 Andrea Jones Chair 85 -90 0 0 0 82.5 - 85 170 - 175

Martin Phillips Chief Officer 105 - 110 3.2 0 0 0 105 -110

Lisa Tempest Chief Finance Officer 85 - 90 0 0 0 12.5 - 15.00 95 -100

Jackie Kay Assistant Chief Officer 80 - 85 1.3 0 0 0 80 - 85

Richard Harker Quality Lead 25 - 30 0 0 0 0 25 - 30

Michelle Thompson Lay Member 10 -15 0 0 0 0 10 - 15

Andie Mackay Lay member 5 - 10 0 0 0 0 5 -10

John Flook Lay member 10 - 15 0 0 0 0 10 -15

Lucy Hansen

Secondary Care Clinician (1st April to 

30th June 2014) 0 - 5 0 0 0 0 0 - 5

Gill Findley * Chief Nurse 40 - 45 0 0 0 15 - 17.5 55 - 60

Angela Galloway

Secondary Care Clincian from 1st 

November 2014) 0 - 5 0 0 0 0 0 - 5

* Employed by NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and 50% of costs recharged to NHS Darlington CCG

2014/15



 

56 
 

Pay Multiples (subject to audit) 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of the workforce of the organisation. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Darlington CCG in the financial year 2014/15 was £105k - £110k (2013/14 
£105k - £110k). This was 1.9 times higher (2013/14 1.8 times higher) than the median remuneration of the workforce which was 
£55,279 (2013/14 £59,001). For the purposes of identifying the highest paid director for this disclosure it is the cost to the CCG of 
an individual that is considered rather than the total of that individual‟s remuneration. 
 
In 2014/15, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of the Governing Body. Remuneration 
ranged from £7,882 to £108,237. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay, benefits-in-kind. It 
does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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Darlington CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2014/15 (subject to audit) 

 

 Important Note regarding All Pension Related Benefits stated in the table below: 

Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over twenty years. This value has 
been determined in accordance with the HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee 
pension contributions made in 2014/15 have been deducted from the total. Pension related benefits shown in the table above relate 
to the NHS pension scheme members only.  The figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration received by the 
individual during the financial year. 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member‟s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse‟s 
pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension 
scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or 
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit 
accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that 
the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure 
applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any 
pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension 
benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of 
pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
 

Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes 
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period. 
 

Off-payroll Engagements (not subject to audit) 
Details of off-payroll engagements as of March 2015 for more than £220 per day and 
that last longer than six months are as below: 
 

The number that have existed  

For less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

For between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

For between two and three years at the time of reporting 1 

For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 

For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 

Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 1 

 
All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been 
subject to a risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the 
individual is paying the right amount of tax, and, where necessary, that assurance 
has been sought.  
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Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 

0 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the 
clinical commissioning group the right to request assurance in relation 
to Income Tax and National Insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 1 

Of which, the number: 

For whom assurance has been received 1 

For whom assurance has not been received 0 

That have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 

 
The proportion of Governing Body members with off-payroll engagement 
arrangements is as below: 
 

Number of off-payroll engagement of Membership Body and/or 
Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, during the financial year 

1 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Membership Body 
and/or Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year (this figure 
includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements) 

11 

 
This arrangement is for Dr Richard Harker, CCG Quality Lead, who is responsible for 
paying his own tax and national insurance contributions. The total value of payments 
is shown in the table on page 26. 
 

Performance (not subject to audit) 
Continuation of employment, under the senior managers‟ contracts of employment is 
subject to satisfactory performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving 
set objectives is reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review 
payments made to senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make 
such payments in future years outside of the Very Senior Management Pay 
Framework. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of 
service and guidance issued by the Department of Health. 
 
Contracts of employment, in relation to the Chief Officer and senior managers, are 
permanent in nature and subject to six months‟ notice of termination by either party. 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. 
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Martin Phillips was in post as Chief Officer for the duration of the financial year 
however due to unforeseen circumstances he was not available to sign the annual 
report on 28 May 2015. As a consequence Ali Wilson, Chief Officer and Accountable 
Officer of NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group, has 
stepped in as Acting Accountable Officer to discharge this responsibility for NHS 
Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 
Acting Accountable Officer 
NHS Darlington CCG 
 
 
 

Statement of Accountable 

Officer’s Responsibilities 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s assets 
(and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers‟ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of 
Health and in particular to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
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 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for 
Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and, 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 

Martin Phillips was in post as Chief Officer for the duration of the financial year, 
however, due to unforeseen circumstances he was not available to sign the annual 
report on 28 May 2015. As a consequence Ali Wilson, Chief Officer and Accountable 
Officer of NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group has 
stepped in as Acting Accountable Officer to discharge this responsibility for NHS 
Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 

Ali Wilson 

Acting Accountable Officer 

May 2015 
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Governance Statement by the 
Accountable Officer 

 
 

1. Introduction & Context 
1.1 The clinical commissioning group (CCG) was licenced from 1 April 2013 under 
provisions enacted in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the NHS 
Act 2006.  
 
1.2 The CCG operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for the 
completion of the licencing process and the establishment of function, systems and 
processes prior to the CCG taking on its full powers. As at 1 April 2013, the CCG 
was licensed without conditions. 
 

 
2. Scope of responsibility 
 

The Governing Body of the CCG is accountable for internal control. As Accountable 
Officer, and Chief Officer to the Governing Body, I have responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining a sound system of internal control for policies, aims 
and objectives. I also have responsibility for the safeguarding of public funds and 
departmental assets as set out in the Accountable Officer Memorandum and 
assigned to me in Managing Public Money.  

 

As Accountable Officer, I am personally responsible for ensuring that public funds 
are safeguarded and that the endeavours of the CCG are administered prudently 
and economically, and that resources are deployed efficiently and effectively and 
with due regard for financial propriety and regularity. 

 

Further details can be found in the Statement of Accountable Officers responsibilities. 

 

3. Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code  
 
3.1 Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not 
mandatory for public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice. 
This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate how the CCG had regard to 
the principles set out in the code appropriate for CCGs for the financial year ended 
March 2015. 
 
 
 

4. Governance framework 

4.1 The CCG is governed through the Constitution which sets out the duties, 
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responsibilities and overall framework for the good governance of the CCG. This 
includes the structures systems, and process for the discharging of duties, delivery 
of responsibilities and arrangements for decision-making. 

We amended our Constitution in January 2015 in preparation for taking on co-
commissioning of primary care services with NHS England, however this will not 
come into effect until 2015/16. 

 

4.2 Review of the CCG‟s Constitution confirms that it complies with the elements 
of the self-certification checklist, including: 
 

 specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the 
functions of the Governing Body; 

 the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions; 

 the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health 
services are being, or may be provided pursuant to its commissioning 
arrangements are involved; 

 arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of 
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests; 

 arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about 
the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 

 

4.3 The Governing Body comprises a Clinical Leader who is also the Chair, two GP 
members, a Chief Nurse, Chief Finance Officer, a secondary care clinician, three 
lay members including one with specific responsibilities for Governance, Audit and 
Risk, as well as one with specific responsibilities for Patient and Public Involvement 
and Engagement. As Accountable Officer, I am also a member of the Governing 
Body. The lay members, together with the secondary care clinician have important 
roles within the governance framework of the CCG. 
 

4.4 The Governing Body has an ongoing role in reviewing the CCG‟s governance 
arrangements to ensure that these continue to reflect the principles of good 
governance. The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee plays a key role in 
supporting this by providing assurance to the Governing Body around the risk and 
governance processes within the CCG. 
 

4.5 During the year 2014/15 the CCG‟s Governing Body met formally on five 
occasions. All meetings were held in public and agendas were structured to deal 
with strategic, performance, quality assurance, risk and governance issues. 
 

4.6 The Governing Body has established five principal committees for the conduct 
of its business as well as a Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee and 
Clinical Leadership Group. Each committee is chaired by a member of the 
Governing Body and all have important roles in the governance framework. The 
two service committees are comprised of member practices and chaired by a GP. 
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The Quality and Innovation and Performance Committee is chaired by the GP lead 
for Quality and the Finance Committee is chaired by the deputy lead clinician. Both 
committees have delegated responsibility for and effective scrutiny of quality, 
performance, innovation and finance. 
 

4.7 The Governance,  Audit and Risk Committee is chaired by the lay member with 
the lead role in overseeing key elements of Governance and the Community 
Council of Patients, Public and Carers by the lay member championing Patient and 
Public Involvement. The Governing Body is also supported by an Executive, which I 
chair. The organisational structure including key committees is set out below:   

 

 
 

 

 

 

Clinical Commissioning Group  
 

Governance, 
Audit and Risk 

Remuneration 
& Terms of 

Service 

Quality, 
Performance 

and Innovation 

Finance  
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Council of 
Patients, 

Public and 
Carers 

Prescribing 

Clinical 
Leadership 

Group 

Executive 
Team 

Members 
Assembly 

Governing 

Body 



NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report and Accounts 2014-15 

 

Page | 65  
 

4.8 As a member organisation, the CCG‟s member practices are best placed to 
direct informed arrangements so that the interests of patients and their care are 
central to the commissioning decisions of the CCG. I have therefore created an 
Assembly for members that holds the Governing Body clinically to account. The 
Members Assembly is chaired by a member practice. 

I have reviewed the effectiveness of the operation of our governance arrangements 
and in September 2014 refreshed the principal responsibilities of two of our 
committees. Responsibility for the monitoring of performance was moved to the 
Quality and Innovation Committee, which is now the Quality Performance and 
Innovation Committee, leaving the former Finance and Performance Committee to 
focus solely on financial matters as the Finance Committee. 

 

4.9 Description of the established Governing Body committees 
 

4.9.1 The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are set out broadly 
below. The Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of 
Delegation to establish sub-committees or sub-groups to enable them to fulfill their 
role.  Each committee has detailed terms of reference which are referenced within 
the CCG‟s Constitution and are available on the CCG‟s website. Each committee is 
authorised by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of 
reference and within the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 
 

4.9.2 Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 

The committee is established to make recommendations to the Governing Body on 
pay and remuneration for senior employees of the CCG and people who provide 
services to the CCG. This includes remuneration for executive officers as well as 
the Chair, independent lay members and other Governing Body members. The 
committee also considers any business cases for early retirement and redundancy. 
 
The Remuneration Committee met once during the financial year 2014/15, and has 
delivered all of its objectives. 
 

4.9.3 Governance, Audit and Risk Committee 

The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee supports the Governing Body in its 
main function of ensuring the CCG has made appropriate arrangements in place to 
assure that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically 
and adheres to relevant principles of good governance, specifically that the CCG 
has good systems and processes across all of its functions and statutory 
responsibilities. 
 

The committee has oversight to review any decision where a GP or other individual 
has declared an interest, but has agreed to continue to be engaged in the 
consequent discussion and potentially the decision. Its work will dovetail with that of 
the Quality, Performance and Innovation Committee to seek assurance that robust 
clinical quality is in place to assure the CCG of its responsibilities for safeguarding 
and mandatory training. 
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The Governance Audit and Risk Committee met six times during the financial year 
2014/15. The committee‟s cycle of business includes review of the CCG‟s risk 
management processes, including the Assurance Framework and corporate risk 
register. The committee considers the work of both internal and external audit, 
together with other assurance functions including in particular those relating to 
North of England Commissioning Support (NECS), upon which the CCG is 
dependent for the majority of commissioning support, to fulfil its role of providing 
assurance to the Governing Body. 
 

The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee, as part of its terms of reference, 
provides an Annual Report of its work to the Governing Body and interim updates 
as required. The report, covering the financial year 2014/15 will be available 
alongside the final Annual Report and Accounts in June 2015 to support the final 
Annual Governance Statement. The principal purpose of the report is to provide 
assurance to the Governing Body and to support the Accountable Officer‟s review 
of the internal control arrangements. The Governance, Audit and Risk Committee 
has a business cycle which enables the committee to carry out the objectives 
necessary to support its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the 
organisation‟s internal controls. 
 
 

4.9.4 Finance Committee 

The Finance Committee supports the CCG to achieve financial balance, including 
delivery of QIPP financial targets.  

The committee met nine times during the year and highlights include: 

 monitoring of financial performance to ensure that national financial targets 
were met; 

 monitoring of the QIPP plan and the identification of alternative schemes 
where planned schemes failed to deliver to ensure delivery of the planned 
QIPP saving; 

 ensuring that financial risks were identified and appropriate controls and and 
action plans were put in place to mitigate financial loss to the CCG  

 
 

4.9.5 Quality, Performance and Innovation Committee 

The Quality, Performance and Innovation Committee are driven by an ambition of 
excellence in clinical quality, clinical effectiveness and patient and carer experience, 
and the priorities for the group to improve health outcomes and all associated risks 
or areas of quality improvement. It will lead innovation and embed best practice 
principles in commissioned services, always acting with a view to securing 
continuous improvements in the quality of care and services. The Committee will 
innovate and oversee research to deliver heath gain, improved patient safety and a 
better experience for patients. The committee supports the CCG to achieve 
organisational performance objectives, through reviewing performance in-year and 
implementing any relevant actions as required. 
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The committee met 12 times during the year and highlights include: 
 

 the committee met with senior medical representative from County Durham 
and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust about radiology. There had been 
concerns about staffing and the quality of services being provided. The Trust 
is now up to almost full establishment for radiology staff including the 
appointment of an additional ten radiographers; 

 following concerns about pharmacy issues in the community the committee 
received assurance that new processes had been put in place to address the 
concerns. Monitoring of incidents shows that the situation has improved for 
patients; 

 members of the committee were involved in providing responses to the Care 
Quality Commission prior to inspections of our local provider organisations; 

 the committee has overseen the introduction of a reporting system for 
incidents in primary care.  We understand that this is the first region in the 
country to introduce such as system in a coordinated way. 

 

4.9.6 Executive Team 

The Governing Body has delegated the day-to-day operational management of the 
CCG to the Executive Team. This includes the implementation and delivery of 
plans agreed by the Governing Body. The Executive Team meets formally once per 
month. 
 

4.9.7 Joint Committees 
 

The CCG has not entered into any formal joint committees with other CCGs or any 
other organisations.  Collaborative working arrangements have been developed 
with a number of other CCGs, including joint arrangements with the CCGs in the 
North of England to determine commissioning for health gain policies, and to review 
and approve individual funding requests, including conducting an appeals process. 
These joint working arrangements do not represent formal joint committees and the 
CCG retains responsibility for making any relevant decisions in line with the Scheme 
of Reservation and Delegation. 
 

4.10 Review and assessment of board effectiveness and assessment of 
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (2012) 
 

4.10.1 In reviewing and assessing the effectiveness of the Governing Body, the 
guidance contained within The UK Corporate Code of Governance (2012) has been 
further developed into a Governing Body „self-assessment‟ questionnaire. The 
guidance contained within the code has enabled a detailed review of Governing 
Body effectiveness against the following criteria – leadership, effectiveness, 
accountability, remuneration and relations with stakeholders on a „comply or 
explain‟ basis. This has been supported by a dedicated session for the Governing 
Body to review compliance with the code and further Governing Body development 
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will continue throughout the year. In particular, having reviewed the effectiveness of 
the CCG‟s governance framework and arrangements in relation to The UK 
Corporate Code of Governance, I consider that the organisation complies with the 
principles and standards of best practice contained within the guidance as 
described. 

 
 

5. The CCG Risk Management Framework 

5.1 As Chief Officer, I have overall accountability for the management of risk, risk 
management systems and internal controls in place across the CCG, together with 
the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework so that all 
the statutory requirements are met to ensure positive performance towards our 
strategic objectives. All officers of the CCG and its agents recognise that the 
effective management of risk is part of everyday management of business and 
Directors are responsible for: 
 

 co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance 
with the Risk Management Policy; 

 ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action 
taken to implement improvements; 

 ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their 
risk management responsibilities in relation to the Risk 
Management Policy; 

• incorporating risk management as a management technique 
within the performance management arrangements for the 
organisation. 

 

5.2 There are a number of systems and processes in place to ensure the Governing 
Body receives robust assurances on the overall effectiveness of arrangements. 
These are set out in the Governance Framework. Arrangements for controlling 
risks, including support for staff are set out in the risk and control arrangements. 
 

5.3 The CCG‟s Risk Management Policy reflects current guidance on risk 
management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 
31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient 
Safety Agency in its approach to assessing risk. 
 

5.4 The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG‟s approach to the assessment 
and management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall 
objective to support the delivery of the CCG‟s vision of improving the health of 
local people by commissioning high quality and safe services. This includes the 
processes and procedures adopted by the CCG to identify, assess and 
appropriately manage risks and the detailed roles and responsibilities for risk 
management.  It provides guidance for the systematic and effective management 
of risk. Key elements of the Risk Management Policy include: 
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 a clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for 
delivery of the policy; 

 clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process; 

 a clearly defined process for delivering the policy including an 
implementation plan to ensure that the framework and risk 
management awareness is communicated to all staff; 

 details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk 

 an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and 
learning from adverse events supported by a „fair blame‟ culture 
and approach; 

 confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk 
register. 

 

5.5 Risk is identified via a number of mechanisms including the incident reporting 
system which identifies the risks that have already (or nearly) occurred; through our 
strategic planning system which ensures that all organisational objectives are rated 
for risks to achievement of delivery; and in our performance management system 
which rates all objectives for risk to delivery. In addition all Governing Body reports 
are assessed for equality impact. 
 

5.6 Counter Fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation‟s 
financial viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the 
Governance, Audit and Risk Committee which focuses on the deterrence, 
prevention, detection and investigation of fraud. 
 

5.7 Counter Fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically discussed 
with both the Governing Body and wider CCG employees during the year to 
cement their knowledge and understanding of Counter Fraud arrangements, with 
all employees also required to complete e-learning training. Risk management is 
embedded in all the systems and processes of the CCG.  For example, any 
proposal for a decision by the CCG requires a compliance with its Patients‟ Charter 
and equality impact assessments. 
 

6. The CCG Internal Control Framework 
 
6.1 A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in 
the CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a 
reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control has been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2015 and up to 
the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. 
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6.2 Information Governance 
6.2.1 The CCG has an Information Governance Framework in place comprising an 
approved Strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of 
mandatory training, information risk management, incident management and has 
also adopted and implemented the Health and Social Care Information Centre‟s 
(HSCIC), „Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information 
Governance Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation‟.  
 
6.2.2 The organisation has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting 
of level 2 Information Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This 
procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures 
to be used in the event of a data security breach. There have been no Information 
Governance serious breaches in year. 
 
6.2.3 The Information Governance agenda is heard at the Executive Committee 
which also oversees the day-to-day management of IG systems and processes. The 
CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian (Gillian Findley) and Senior 
Information Risk Owner (Lisa Tempest). 
 
6.2.4 The Information Governance Toolkit has been provided by the HSCIC to 
support performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance in the NHS.  
The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit Version 12 and 
has self-assessed as being satisfactory.   
 
6.2.5 The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for 
information. During the year the CCG received 227 requests under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and two requests under the Data Protection Act 1998.  All the 
requests were responded to within the statutory timescales. 
 

6.3 Pension Obligations  
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the 
scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer‟s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance 
with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately 
updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.  
 

6.4. Equality, Diversity and Human Rights  
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the CCG‟s obligations under 
equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.  
 

6.5. Sustainable Development Obligations 
6.5.1 The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable 
development indicators. We are developing plans to assess risks, enhance our 
performance and reduce our impact, including against carbon reduction and climate 
change adaptation objectives. This includes establishing mechanisms to embed 
social and environmental sustainability across policy development, business 
planning and in commissioning.  
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6.5.2 We will ensure the CCG complies with its obligations under the Climate 
Change Act 2008, including the Adaptation Reporting power, and the Public Services 
(Social Value) Act 2012. 
 
6.5.3 We are also setting out our commitments as a socially responsible employer. 
 

7. Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management and Internal 
Control 
 

7.1 Operational and financial risk is inherent in any organisation no less so in the 
CCG‟s commissioning responsibilities. Risk management assessment is an 
integral part of prudent management flowing through from strategy development 
through to delivery of operational plans. All risks are identified and evaluated in 
accordance with the Risk Management Policy, through the process set out below, 
collated into a single register and assigned to a committee and senior officer. 
Action plans are then developed with clear timescales in relation to the identified 
risk. 
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7.2 All risks are reviewed monthly by the appropriate committee to ensure they are 
appropriately assessed and that action is being taken, with the Governance, Audit 
and Risk Committee, and Governing Body performing an overall review of all risks. 
Risks identified as having the potential to significantly impact on CCG corporate 
objective are escalated and specifically reviewed by the Governing Body. 
 

7.3 The Governance Audit and Risk Committee ensure that the CCG adheres to a 
robust risk management assessment process. Active steps are taken to ensure that 
it is regularly updated. In addition, all CCG policies and reports are assessed for 
equality impact. The CCG also takes measures to secure and take account of the 
views of its stakeholders, including: 
 

 patients, carers and the public: The Governing Body meets in public, 
receiving a report from its lay member that champions Patient and Public 
Involvement, through its Community Council, Commissioner Visits, regular 
involvement with the work of the Health and Partnerships Scrutiny; 
Committee, Health and Wellbeing Board, consultations with local people on 
service change and improvements and commitment to its Patient Charter 

 members and staff: Personal Objectives/Personal Development Plans 
linked to CCGs operational and strategic priorities, Members Assembly, 
regular surveys, supporting Protected Learning Time; 

 other Stakeholders: Working with other partners through Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Clinical Quality Review Groups and the quarterly 
Assurance and Performance meetings with NHS England 

 

7.4 Current Risks 
  
Table 1 shows the current risk profile and table 2 summarises the current significant 
corporate red risks facing the CCG as at May 2015.  

 
 

7.5 Future Risks 
 
7.5.1 The current pressures on the health service are substantial, in particular the 
increasing demands of an ageing and growing population must be met from 
constrained financial resources.  This will increase the pressure on current services 

Table 1 - Breakdown Summary of Risks by Domain 

Domain Red Amber Yellow Green Total

1.  Patients are receiving clinically commissioned, high quality care 1 2 3 0 6

2.  Are patients and the public actively engaged and involved? 0 0 0 0 0

3.  CCG plans are delivering better outcomes for patients 1 5 3 0 9

4.  CCG has robust governance arrangements 0 2 0 0 2

5.  CCG is  working in partnerships with others 0 2 1 0 3

6.  The CCG has s trong and robust leadership 0 0 1 0 1

Total 2 11 8 0 21
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and potential risks around delivery of performance targets whilst maintaining quality 
and ensuring services are safe, within available financial resources.  The introduction 
of the Better Care Fund in 2015/16, a single pooled budget across the CCG and 
local authority, designed to enable transformation in integrated health and social 
care, will require substantial change in the way services are delivered with an 
unprecedented shift in activity required away from hospital into community settings.  
 
7.5.2 The CCG has agreed a two year operational plan, incorporating the Better 
Care Fund, with a five-year strategic plan in development, all supported by a 
financial plan.  These plans demonstrate how these pressures will be managed to 
enable continued achievement of a balanced financial position whilst also delivering 
on the strategic aims of the CCG.  The impact of the Better Care Fund in particular 
represents a significant challenge.  The implementation of these plans and the 
schemes designed to take activity out of hospital, will require close monitoring to 
ensure progress is made in advance of 2015/16.     
 

8. Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of Resources  
 
8.1 The CCG has developed systems and processes in place for managing its 
resources. Robust financial governance arrangements have been maintained 
throughout the year, including the Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegation, and Prime 
Financial Policies incorporated within the CCG Constitution, supplemented by the 
CCG‟s Standing Financial Instructions and detailed financial limits, all of which 
provide the framework through which the CCG discharges its business. This is 
supported by comprehensive and well established systems of internal control which 
help to govern the effective use of resources. 
 

8.2 Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year, 
based on the medium term financial plan, which set the basis on which resources 
will be utilised. The financial planning and budget setting process incorporates a 
review and prioritisation of commissioning intentions and investment decisions to 
enable the most appropriate use of available resource. Annual budgets and longer 
term financial plans are reviewed and approved by the Governing Body. This 
includes plans to deliver against the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 
(QIPP) agenda. 
 

8.3 This is supported by comprehensive and established systems of internal control 
which help to govern the effective use of resources. The Head of Internal Audit 
provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance 
through the Assurance Framework (AF) and on the controls reviewed as part of the 
Internal Audit Programme. Executive officers, clinical and member leads within the 
CCG have responsibilities for the development and maintenance of effective 
arrangements for risk management and internal controls. The AF provides me with 
assurance that the effectiveness of controls that manage risk to the organisation 
achieving its aims and objectives has been reviewed. 
 

8.4 The Executive Team and Finance and Quality, Performance and Innovation 
committees play a key role in managing performance and delivery against financial 
plans, ensuring appropriate action is taken to address any issues as required and 
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providing assurance to the Governing Body that resources are being utilised in line 
with plans.  In addition, monthly finance reports are also reviewed by the 
Governing Body, showing performance against budgets and financial targets, 
including the QIPP plan. 
 
8.5 Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG‟s external auditors are 
required to satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do 
this by examining documentary evidence and through discussions with senior 
managers. The findings from their audit work are communicated to the Governance, 
Audit and Risk Committee.   
 
8.6 The CCG also makes use of benchmarking information produced both nationally 
and locally to enable comparison of expenditure and patient outcomes against its 
peers. This benchmarking is a key element of all commissioning processes to help 
determine value for money for new services and pathways. 
 

9. Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal 
Control 
 
9.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 
the system of governance, risk management and internal control within the CCG.  
 

9.2 Capacity to Handle Risk 
 
9.2.1 As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility for: 
 

 ensuring the implementation of an effective Risk Management Policy, 
including effective risk management systems and internal controls; 

 the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework; 

 meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance 
towards our strategic objectives. 

 
9.2.2 Each of the Executive Committee members of the CCG are responsible for: 
 

 co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the 
Risk Management policy; 

 ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to 
implement improvements; 

 ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk 
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management policy; 

 incorporating risk management as a management technique within the 
performance management arrangements for the organisation. 

 
9.2.3 All managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk 
management policy within their span of control and for ensuring that staff understand 
and apply the relevant policy and strategy in relation to risk management. All staff 
within the CCG are responsible for assisting in the implementation of the Risk 
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Management policy and for highlighting any areas of risk through the incident 
reporting procedures, a principal means through which the CCG manages risk and 
learns lessons.  
 

9.3. Review of Effectiveness 
 
9.3.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the executive 
managers and clinical leads within the CCG who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on 
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments 
made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. 
 
9.3.2 The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principal  
objectives have been reviewed. 
 
9.3.3 As part of the CCG‟s risk management processes, an Assurance Framework 
has been in place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive 
method for the effective and focused management of the principal risks and 
assurances to meeting and delivering the CCG‟s objectives. The Assurance 
Framework reflects the principal risks associated with the delivery of the CCG‟s 
strategic objectives.  This includes risks around the delivery of the CCG‟s strategic 
aims, financial stability including QIPP delivery, and development of effective 
corporate governance and risk management.   
 
9.3.4 The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and assurances in 
place against each risk, together with any relevant action being taken to address 
gaps in controls and assurances where required.  This is supplemented by detailed 
risk registers that record the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an 
operational and strategic level across the five areas of delivery, development and 
transition, finance, performance and quality.  
 
9.3.5 I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, Executive 
Committee, and the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee. A plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 
 

A service auditor reporting process has been implemented to provide assurance 
over the effectiveness of controls and processes within NECS. 
 
A Service Auditor Report covering Payroll, Business Intelligence, Information 
Governance, Finance, IT and Quality for the six-month period to 30 September 2014 
was received by the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee in January 2015.  A 
second report covering financial systems for the latter part of 2014/15 is expected to 
be available on 19 May 2015. 
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The CCG also has additional systems of control and review mechanisms internally 
over the work performed by NECS which provide additional assurance that there 
have been no significant internal control issues which have impacted on the CCG. 
 

9.3.6 My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by 
a number of reports from, and work of, the committees of the Governing Body 
between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 has included: 
 

 CCG Assurance Framework in place to ensure effective control 
systems to manage and mitigate risk; 

 Governance, Audit and Risk Committee overview on behalf of the 
Governing Body, including minutes and engagement with the 
planning and monitoring of the Independent Audit Process; 

 The results of Internal Audit work, which has provided the 
CCG with „significant assurance‟; 

 External Audit work, including their management letter and other reports 

 Evidence to demonstrate compliance with information governance 
protocols; 

 Reports to the Governing Body on risk. 
 

 

9.3.7 The leadership provided by the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee, 
working directly to the Governing Body, chaired by the lay member with the lead 
role in overseeing key elements of Governance, including the Independent Audit 
Process, provides a robust and independent process, that provides assurance to 
the Governing Body: 

 

 the Governing Body‟s performance, including its assessment of its 
own effectiveness; 

 themed\development sessions for the Governing Body 

 Each member of staff has agreed individual objectives linked to the 
CCGs operational and strategic objectives; 

 I have regular one-to-one sessions with each of the three lay 
members, as does the Chair\Clinical Lead; 

 the Chair has an agreed programme for engagement with each 
member practice; 

 all staff have met the requirements for mandatory training, which is 
predetermined as mandatory to them, depending upon their role. This 
includes but is not limited to Infection, Prevention and Control; Equality 
and Diversity; Health and Safety; Counter Fraud; Information 
Governance, Safeguarding and I am assured that principal agents at 
NECS have significant assurance for mandatory training. 

 

9.3.8 I am satisfied that the CCG has built upon the high level of compliance it 
demonstrated through its authorisation process to become a CCG against NHS 
England‟s „CCG Assurance Framework‟ and am therefore satisfied that the CCG‟s 
structures systems and processes are effective and that there are sufficient 
resources to allow for the effective management of risk. 



NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report and Accounts 2014-15 

 

Page | 77  
 

9.3.9 Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year, the 
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG‟s system of risk management, 
governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 
 

The Head of Internal Audit (HoIA) Opinion 
 
The purpose of our annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available 
to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Accountable 
Officer‟s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation‟s system of 
internal control. This opinion will, in turn, assist the Accountable Officer in the 
completion of the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Our opinion is set out as follows: 
 
1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis for the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 
 
Our overall opinion is that Significant Assurance can be given that there is a 
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation‟s 
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, 
some weakness in the design and inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk.  
 

 The basis for forming our opinion is as follows: 
 
1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes;  
  
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk based audit 

assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been 
reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management‟s progress in respect of addressing 
control weaknesses; 
 

3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances. 
 
The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and, together with the 
opinion, should be read in its entirety. 
 

 The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated processes 
 

During 2014/15 we have provided significant challenge and support to the CCG 
regarding the assurance framework in terms of the format and content, including 
discussions at Governance, Audit & Risk Committee meetings (GARC). We have 
also provided horizon scanning support and prompted the CCG to undertake 
assurance mapping to source providers to enable the CCG to effectively manage the 
process. The assurance framework has existed throughout the year, and is 
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generally „fit for purpose‟; however it does require some further development and 
update. Risk management processes have been in place throughout the year and 
detailed discussions have been held at GARC meetings.  

 
CCG management processes have highlighted a number of issues throughout the 
year that have been addressed directly with NECS management as part of their 
routine meetings.  

 
 
   
 The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments, 

contained within risk-based plans that have been reported during the year 
 
During the year 2014/15 we have undertaken our work in accordance with the 
Internal Audit annual plan. Throughout the year we have reported our findings to the 
Chief Finance Officer and Chief Officer (and other Executive colleagues where 
applicable). Our internal audit progress reports to the Governance Audit & Risk 
Committee have set out the areas covered by internal audit work during the year, our 
results and matters arising.  
 
The majority of this work would indicate that significant assurance opinions have, or 
will be assigned to the majority of the CCG‟s systems and processes. There is one 
audit that we have not completed at the time of writing this annual report; 
 

 Business Continuity Planning (BCP) 
  
We were looking to place reliance upon the Type II service auditor report from NECS 
which will cover BCP testing, however, this has not been issued.  
 
By way of commentary it should also be noted that there have been no „no 
assurance‟ final reports issued for 2014/15, and only one „limited assurance‟ opinion 
relating to Continuing Healthcare (see below).  
 
In undertaking our duties we have identified some weaknesses in the design or 
effectiveness of controls in certain systems. We have reported these issues during 
the year, and post the year end, and would specifically bring the following to the 
Accountable Officer‟s attention for potential disclosure within the Annual Governance 
Statement: 

Continuing Healthcare & Funded Nursing Care 

 The CHC service specification (within the NECS SLA) does not make explicit 
reference to compliance with the National Framework for NHS Continuing 
Healthcare and NHS funded nursing care, and does not include a clear statement 
of required outcomes from CHC services. KPIs do not relate to specified key 
deliverables and focus primarily on targets for CHC reviews. 

 The CCG places complete reliance upon NECS staff to make correct eligibility 
assessment decisions, and we were informed that the CCG does not have the 
capacity to carry out spot checks to validate the controls put in place by NECS, 
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not just across CHC, but all service lines in the SLA. A service auditor report is 
expected to cover eligibility processes, however, this report has not yet been 
received (as noted above). 

 The CCG do not receive sufficient data to facilitate a reasonableness review of 
monthly payments, such as new patients, deaths and fast track packages 
matched to associated costs. 

 The CCG receives no confirmation or assurance from NECS that reconciliations 
between the QA database maintained by the CHC team and the financial system 
from which payments are generated are carried out. The Director of Nursing, 
Quality and Development has initiated meetings with NECS to discuss this issue, 
but capacity issues at NECS have made progress difficult. 

 Local arrangements are that the organisation with lead commissioning 
responsibility for each patient takes the lead in contracting and payment 
arrangements with providers, including care homes. The CCG has some 
understanding of contracting arrangements and payment flow processes but has 
no confirmation that processes are working appropriately and effectively in 
practice. 

 References to “late processing of deaths” in quarterly reports from the CHC team 
infers that NECS are not performing reconciliations of CHC patient information to 
the GP spine in a prompt manner to remove deceased patients from their 
records, and prevent making overpayments to care homes. 

Third party assurances  
 
As a result of the support service arrangements provided by NECS under a signed 
service level agreement, the CCG will receive a number of assurance reports 
covering the 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015, some of which post date this opinion.  
 
The CCG has received a Service Auditor Report from NECS covering the period 1st 
April 2014 to 30th September 2014. The report covers 123 controls relating to 39 
control objectives in Payroll, Business Intelligence, Information Governance, 
Finance, IT and Quality in relation to those services provided to the CCG. The 
Deloitte audit opinion was a qualified one, on account of 5 exceptions noted in the 
control environment. These exceptions related to Payroll, Finance Training, 
Management Accounts, Finance and routine reports. The report provides reasonable 
assurance that the specified control objectives would be achieved if the described 
controls operated effectively throughout the year.  
 
At the time of writing this report, initial results of the SAR covering the period 1st 
October 2014 to 31st March 2015 had been issued. Across the 26 key control 
objectives tested, issues were identified in 5 areas and NECS had identified actions 
that would be implemented. 
 
The CCG will also receive a Service Auditor Report on continuing healthcare 
controls operated by NECS on a specific date which has not yet been determined. 
We understand that the report will not be available until June 2015. In providing our 
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overall assurance opinion, we can place no reliance on unseen Service Auditor 
Report(s). However, following the issue of these reports, we would suggest that the 
CCG takes appropriate action with NECS if there are any reported weaknesses in 
NECS operating controls.  
 
The CCG will also have access to a service auditor report from Shared Business 
Services for finance and accounting and procurement controls; and a separate 
service auditor report for payroll. An assurance letter was received from Northumbria 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust on 29th April 2015 which provided significant 
assurance with no issues of note on the payroll processes that are undertaken on 
behalf of the CCG.  At the time of producing this report, the remaining assurances 
are not available to us and as such have not been considered as part of our opinion.  
 
The CCG has also received support from the NECS governance team. Although we 
have no significant issues, we have discussed some concerns that exist (from our 
perspective) regarding the effectiveness of arrangements which will require review 
and clarification in 2015/16. 

 

 
Audit North  
May 2015 
 
 
 

9.4. Data Quality 
 
9.4.1The NECS Data Management service have processes and systems in place to 
assess the quality and completeness of data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is 
checked at all stages of processing through CSU systems and finally on publication 
of reports/analysis. Data is compared against historic and planned levels to provide 
assurance on completeness, as well as with peer organisations in the form of 
benchmarking analysis. 
 
9.4.2 Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a 
monthly basis – feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing 
routines as required. The CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure 
high quality data is captured at source and to minimise any updating of data once 
received by commissioners. Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any 
discrepancies between provider and commissioner data that are then investigated 
and resolved.  
 
9.4.3 Significant validations steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to 
ensure poor quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently 
used as the basis for commissioning decisions. 

 
 

9.5. Business Critical Models 
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9.5.1 The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of 
business critical models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson 
report, and I consider that appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient 
quality assurance. 
 
9.5.2 Any business critical models identified, together with information relating to the 
quality assurance processes for those models, will be provided to the Analytical 
Oversight Committee chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health, as 
appropriate. 
 

9.6 Data Security 
 
9.6.1 The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit and has 
self-assessed as being level 2 overall compliant, which confirms the organisation‟s 
rating as overall „satisfactory‟ in this regard. In accordance with the agreed internal 
audit plan for 2014/15, an audit of the Information Governance Toolkit self-
assessment was undertaken, the scope of which was to provide ongoing assurance 
that the processes for determining scores against individual requirements was 
adequate. 
 
9.6.2 There has been no data security breach identified in 2014/15.  
 
9.6.3 NECS as the provider of IT services to the CCG has a range of controls in 
place.  Control objectives include: physical access, logical access, segregation of 
duties, data transmissions, data centre environmental controls, IT processing, data 
integrity and backups, change management procedures, network security measures, 
problem and incident resolution, system recovery and disaster recovery plans.  
Assurance is provided to the CCG on the effectiveness of these controls through the 
AAF01/06 (service auditor) report that Deloitte will produce for the CCG to inform 
this. The CCG has now received the AAF Report which shows that all IT controls 
described above are „operating effectively‟.   
 

9.7. Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 
9.7.1 During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and 
explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with 
extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with all relevant 
legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership 
Body and Governing Body decision and the Scheme of Delegation. 

 
9.7.2 In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all 
of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I 
can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with 
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions 
on delegation of those functions. 
 
9.7.3 Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead 
director.  
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9.7.4 Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary 
capability and capacity to undertake all of the CCG‟s statutory duties. 
 
9.7.5 No significant internal control issues have been identified and the systems of 
controls have operated throughout the year, and up to the date of this report 
 

10. Conclusion 
 
No significant internal control issues have been identified. To the best of my 
knowledge and belief I have properly discharged my responsibilities on behalf of the 
people I serve as Accountable Officer for NHS Darlington CCG. 
 
 
Martin Phillips was in post as Chief Officer for the duration of the financial year 
however due to unforeseen circumstances he was not available to sign the annual 
report on 28 May 2015. As a consequence Ali Wilson, Chief Officer and Accountable 
Officer of NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group, has 
stepped in as Acting Accountable Officer to discharge this responsibility for NHS 
Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
 

Ali Wilson 

Acting Accountable Officer 

May 2015 
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2015
2014/15 2013/14

Note £000 £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure

Gross employee benefits 3.1 642                  687               

Other costs 4 138,040           134,817        

Other operating revenue 2 (219)                 (327)              

Net operating costs before interest 138,463           135,177        

Investment Revenue 7 -                       -                    

Other (gains) / losses 8 -                       -                    

Finance costs 9 -                       -                    

Net operating costs for the financial year 138,463           135,177        

Of which:

Administration costs

Gross employee benefits 3.1 508                  559               

Other costs 4 1,976               1,803            

Other operating revenue 2 (3)                     -                    

Net administration costs before interest 2,481               2,362            

Programme expenditure

Gross employee benefits 3.1 134                  128               

Other costs 4 136,064           133,014        

Other operating revenue 2 (216)                 (327)              

Net programme expenditure before interest 135,982           132,815        

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 138,463           135,177        
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2015
31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Note £000 £000

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 11 1,302                 1,327                 

Cash and cash equivalents 12 39                      131                    

Total current assets 1,341                 1,458                 

Total assets 1,341                 1,458                 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 (8,797)                (7,473)                

Total current liabilities (8,797)                (7,473)                

Total assets less current liabilities (7,456)                (6,015)                

Financed by taxpayers’ equity

General fund (7,456)                (6,015)                

Total taxpayers' equity: (7,456)                (6,015)                

The notes on pages 5 to 24 form part of this statement

Ali Wilson

Acting Accountable Officer

28 May 2015

The financial statements on pages 1 to 24 were approved by the Governing Body on 26 May 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by:

Martin Phillips was in post as Chief Officer for the duration of the financial year however due to unforeseen 

circumstances he was not available to sign the annual report on 28 May 2015. As a consequence Ali Wilson, Chief 

Officer and Accountable Officer of NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group has stepped in as 

Acting Accountable Officer to discharge this responsibility for NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group.
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended

31 March 2015

General fund

Total 

taxpayers' 

equity

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014/15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (6,015)          (6,015)           

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2014/15:

Net operating costs for the financial year (138,463)      (138,463)       

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (138,463)      (138,463)       

Net Parliamentary funding 137,022       137,022        

Balance at 31 March 2015 (7,456)          (7,456)           

General fund

Total 

taxpayers' 

equity

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013/14

Balance at 1 April 2013 -                   -                    

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013/14:

Net operating costs for the financial year (135,177)      (135,177)       

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (135,177)      (135,177)       

Net Parliamentary funding 129,162 129,162

Balance at 31 March 2014 (6,015)          (6,015)           
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2015
2014/15 2013/14

Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net operating costs for the financial year (138,463)       (135,177)       

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 25                 (1,327)           

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 1,324            7,473            

Net cash outflow from operating activities (137,114)       (129,031)       

Net cash outflow before financing (137,114)       (129,031)       

Cash flows from financing activities

Net funding received 137,022        129,162        

Net cash inflow from financing activities 137,022        129,162        

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12 (92)                131               

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 131               -                    

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the 

financial year 39                 131               
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) shall meet the 

accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts  issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the 

following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014/15  issued by 

the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts  follow International 

Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by 

HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts 

permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 

circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies 

adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 

material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 

future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 

assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set 

of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going 

concern basis.

1.2  Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be „acquired‟ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 

considered to be „discontinued‟ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be „discontinued‟ if they 

transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 

Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual 

does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 

accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 

the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the 

public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 

and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.5 Pooled Budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 

2006 the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of 

the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:

·                The assets the CCG controls;

·                The liabilities the CCG incurs;

·                The expenses the CCG incurs; and,

·                The CCG‟s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:

·                The CCG‟s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);

·                The CCG‟s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

·                The CCG‟s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG‟s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 

considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying 

assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has 

made in the process of applying the CCG‟s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements:

•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme 

expenditure; 

•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets;

•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 

obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG‟s accounting 

policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment 

spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date; and   

•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services. 

1.7  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 

from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 

statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an 

unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 

the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 

would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 

scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the 

scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 

scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 

commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 

They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 

obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 

the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 

incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 

24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and that form an integral part of the CCG‟s cash management.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a 

provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present 

value of those cash flows using HM Treasury‟s discount rate as follows:

                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%

                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%

                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%

                All employee early departures: 1.30%

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 

and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 

the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 

includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 

necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to 

the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to 

expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases 

the legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 

pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 

receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 

payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014/15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim 

periods prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme CCG's contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to 

settle the claims.  This has been charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the CCGs 

contribution.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required 

to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability 

is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 

contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.17 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of 

trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 

contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

                Held to maturity investments;

                Available for sale financial assets; and,

                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as loans and receivables.

1.17.1 Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted 

in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 

of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at „fair 

value through profit and loss‟ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there 

is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of 

the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset‟s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 

asset‟s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is 

reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 

reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment 

is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.18  Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have 

been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has 

been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially 

recognised at fair value.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying 

amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.19 Value Added Tax

1.20 Losses & Special Payments

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2014/15 2014/15 2014/15 2013/14

Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Education, training and research -                  36                36                -                  

Non-patient care services to other bodies 3                  180              183              327              

Total other operating revenue 3                  216              219              327              

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input 

tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included 

in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the 

amounts are stated net of VAT.

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 

health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 

subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different 

categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, 

including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own 

risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

                IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of 

the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be 

applied in 2014/15, all of which are subject to consultation:

                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014/15, were 

they applied in that year.

                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits 2014/15 Total Total

Total Permanent 

Employees

Other Total Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 521               521               -                    411               411               -                    110               110               -                    

Social security costs 52                 52                 -                    42                 42                 -                    10                 10                 -                    

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 69                 69                 -                    55                 55                 -                    14                 14                 -                    

Total employee benefits expenditure 642               642               -                    508               508               -                    134               134               -                    

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year.

The remuneration of the executive directors is set out in the Remuneration Report on page 57 of the Annual Report.

3.2 Average number of people employed
2013/14

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number

Total 13                 13                 -                    11                 

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects.

3.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2014/15 2013/14

Number Number

Total Days Lost 35                 26                 

Total Staff Years 11                 10                 

Average working Days Lost 3.1                2.6                

The staff sickness absence data for 2014/15 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2014 (2013/14: 9 month period from April to December 2013).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year.

3.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year.

Admin Programme

2014/15
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits 

payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 

allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run 

in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical 

commissioning group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme 

for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those 

that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period 

between formal valuations shall be 4 years, with approximate assessments in intervening years".  An outline of 

these follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting 

period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust 

figures for financial reporting purposes.

The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2014, updated 

to 31 March 2015 with summary global member and accounting data.  In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 

methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury 

have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of 

the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually.  These accounts 

can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.5 Pension costs (continued)

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking 

into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.  The last published 

actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of 

HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer 

c) Scheme Provisions

The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide 

only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met 

before these benefits can be obtained:

• The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of 

the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of 

reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have 

their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service;

• With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free 

lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HM Revenue & Customs rules. This new provision is known as 

“pension commutation”;

• Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are 

based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.  From 

2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

• Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the Scheme who are permanently 

incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year‟s 

pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable;

• For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 

scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.

• Members can purchase additional service in the Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC‟s run by the 

Scheme‟s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

13



NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4. Operating expenses
2014/15 2014/15 2014/15 2013/14

Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 112                 134                 246                 310                 

Executive governing body members 396                 -                     396                 377                 

Total gross employee benefits 508                 134                 642                 687                 

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,416              374                 1,790              1,397              

Services from Foundation Trusts 30                   98,870            98,900            98,527            

Services from other NHS Trusts -                     211                 211                 283                 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -                     19,197            19,197            17,168            

Chair and Non Executive Members 169                 -                     169                 105                 

Supplies and services – general 13                   247                 260                 275                 

Consultancy services 6                     7                     13                   4                     

Establishment 46                   3                     49                   53                   

Premises 164                 (3)                   161                 69                   

Audit fees 72                   -                     72                   73                   

Other non statutory audit expenditure -                     

·          Other services 1                     -                     1                     -                     

Prescribing costs -                     16,867            16,867            16,786            

Pharmaceutical services -                     94                   94                   -                     

Other professional fees excl. audit 23                   -                     23                   68                   

Clinical negligence 3                     -                     3                     3                     

Education and training 33                   1                     34                   6                     

CHC Risk Pool contributions -                     196                 196                 -                     

Total other costs 1,976              136,064          138,040          134,817          

Total operating expenses 2,484              136,198          138,682          135,504          
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

5.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2014/15 2014/15 2013/14 2013/14

Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 4,908          22,030        3,495          16,664        

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 4,716          21,391        3,423          16,152        

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 96.09% 97.10% 97.94% 96.93%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 1,550          100,332      860             92,229        

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,539          100,168      850             92,131        

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.29% 99.84% 98.84% 99.89%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

6. Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities.

7. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

8. Other (gains) and losses

There were no other (gains) and losses in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

9. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt 

of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

10. Operating Leases

10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
2014/15 2014/15 2014/15 2013/14

Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 160             7                 167             48               

Total 160             7                 167             48               

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
2014/15 2014/15 2014/15 2013/14

Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:

No later than one year -                  4                 4                 3                 

Between one and five years -                  2                 2                 -                  

After five years -                  -                  -                  -                  

Total -                  6                 6                 3                 

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and the 

lease of photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual 

arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.  For 2013/14, a transitional 

occupancy rent based on annual property cost allocations was agreed.  For 2014/15, the charges from NHS Property 

Services Limited reflect the actual cost of occupancy, or void space, attributable to the CCG.  This is reflected in Note 

10.1.1.  

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental 

charge for future years has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease 

payments for these arrangements.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

11.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 220                   -                       400                   -                       

NHS prepayments and accrued income 663                   -                       740                   -                       

Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 380                   -                       86                     -                       

Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 9                       -                       78                     -                       

VAT 30                     -                       21                     -                       

Operating lease receivables -                       -                       2                       -                       

Total Trade and other receivables 1,302                -                       1,327                -                       

Total current and non current 1,302                1,327                

11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

By up to three months -                       86                     

By three to six months -                       -                       

By more than six months -                       -                       

Total -                       86                     

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2015.

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As 

CCGs are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
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NHS Darlington CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

12. Cash and cash equivalents
31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 131                   -                       

Net change in year (92)                   131                   

Balance at 31 March 2015 39                     131                   

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 39                     131                   

Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 39                     131                   

Balance at 31 March 2015 39                     131                   

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2015 on behalf of patients.

Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 2,131                -                       707                   -                       

NHS accruals and deferred income 1,555                -                       1,170                -                       

Non-NHS payables: revenue 395                   -                       1,044                -                       

Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 4,674                -                       4,517                -                       

Social security costs 6                       -                       -                       -                       

Tax 9                       -                       -                       -                       

Other payables 27                     -                       35                     -                       

Total Trade and Other Payables 8,797                -                       7,473                -                       

Total current and non-current 8,797 7,473

Other payables include £10k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: £nil).

14. Provisions

There were no provisions to recognise in the financial statements at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: none).

15. Contingencies

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: none).

13. Trade and other payables

At 31 March 2015, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early 

retirement over 5 years (31 March 2014: none).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

16. Commitments

17. Financial instruments

17.1 Financial risk management

17.1.1 Currency risk

17.1.2 Interest rate risk

17.1.3 Credit risk

17.1.4 Liquidity risk

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2015 which are not 

otherwise included in these financial statements (31 March 2014: none).

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 

expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 

interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 

credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 

disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 

voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS 

CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the 

period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 

business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 

would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has 

limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 

operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally 

within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is 

subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being 

in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 

currency rate fluctuations.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

17. Financial instruments (continued)

17.2 Financial assets
Loans and 

Receivables Total

Loans and 

Receivables Total

31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:

·          NHS 636                  636                  1,140               1,140               

·          Non-NHS 410                  410                  155                  155                  

Cash at bank and in hand 39                    39                    131                  131                  

Total at 31 March 1,085               1,085               1,426               1,426               

17.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total Other Total

31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payables:

·          NHS 3,686               3,686               1,876               1,876               

·          Non-NHS 5,111               5,111               5,597               5,597               

Total at 31 March 8,797               8,797               7,473               7,473               

18. Operating segments

In its role as a commissioner of healthcare services the CCG has commissioned the following services:

£000

76,778

16,113

14,810

8,687

17,928

Other 1,666

2,481

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 138,463

19. Pooled budgets

The CCG was not party to any pooled budget arrangements during 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its operating 

segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered to be the 'chief operating 

decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance.

The CCG's Governing Body believes that all activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare 

for its relevant population.  As a result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of 

healthcare services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the statement of 

comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.

The CCG has subsequently entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Darlington Borough Council, with effect from 1 

April 2015, in respect of the Better Care Fund. 

Acute Services

Mental Health Services

Community Health Services

Continuing Care Services

Primary Care Services

Corporate Costs and Services

With effect from the 1 April 2015, the CCG has entered into a strategic partnership alliance with Darlington Borough Council.  

As a result of this, the internal reporting to the Governing Body is under review and once agreed, the CCG will review the 

operating segment disclosure requirement as a result.
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20. Intra-government and other balances
Current 

Receivables

Non-current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

Non-current 

Payables

31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 30                     -                        25                     -                        

·          Local Authorities 344                   -                        140                   -                        

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 170                   -                        668                   -                        

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 713                   -                        3,018                -                        

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 883                   -                        3,686                -                        

·          Bodies external to Government 45                     -                        4,946                -                        

Total balances at 31 March 2015 1,302                -                        8,797                -                        

Current 

Receivables

Non-current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

Non-current 

Payables

31 March 2014 31 March 2014 31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 21                     -                        -                        -                        

·          Local Authorities 121                   -                        689                   -                        

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 1,027                -                        542                   -                        

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 113                   -                        1,334                -                        

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 1,140                -                        1,876                -                        

·          Bodies external to Government 45                     -                        4,908                -                        

Total balances at 31 March 2014 1,327                -                        7,473                -                        

21. Events after the end of the reporting period

22. Losses and special payments

There were no losses or special payments identified in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.
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23. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body member Possible Related Party

Payments 

to Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

M Phillips                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Chief Officer County Durham & Darlington NHS FT 71,984       (215)          2,685         (255)          

L Tempest

Chief Finance Officer North Tees & Hartlepool NHS FT 1,336         -                9                (3)              

Dr R Harker                                   Whinfield Medical Practice 91              -                3                -                

Quality lead St Theresa's Hospice 370            -                -                -                

M Thompson

Lay Member Healthwatch Darlington 10              -                -                -                

A Galloway                                   St Cuthberts Hospice 158            -                -                -                

Secondary Care Clinician North Durham CCG 2                (302)          223            -                

G Findley

Lead CCG Nurse Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG -                (544)          350            (114)          

M Rose

Director of Services for People (DBC) Darlington Borough Council 1,196         (343)          140            (344)          

M Davidson

Director of Public Health (DBC) Darlington Borough Council 1,196         (343)          140            (344)          

Dr J Carlton

Salaried GP Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG -                (544)          350            (114)          

• NHS England;

• NHS Foundation Trusts;

• NHS Trusts;

• NHS Litigation Authority; and,

• NHS Business Services Authority.

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, 

or parties related to any of them:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. 

Most of these transactions have been with Darlington Borough Council.

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities 

for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
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23. Related party transactions (continued)

2013/14 comparative figures:

CCG Governing Body member Possible Related Party

Payments 

to Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party
£000 £000 £000 £000

County Durham & Darlington NHS FT 71,572       (594)          399            (41)            

L Tempest

Chief Finance Officer North Tees & Hartlepool NHS FT 986            -                5               -                

Middleton Pharmacy Ltd 6               -                -                -                

Felix House Surgery 174            -                -                -                

Whinfield Medical Practice 88              -                3               -                

St Theresa's Hospice 245            -                -                -                

Northumbria Healthcare NHS FT 9               -                22              -                

North East Ambulance Service NHS FT 3,683         -                123            -                

Healthwatch Darlington 10 -                -                -                

During 2013/14 the CCG undertook transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key 

management staff, or parties related to any of them:

M Phillips                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Chief Officer

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

Dr P Holmes                                   

Deputy Lead Clinician

Dr R Harker                                   

Quality Lead

L Hansen                                  

Secondary Care Clinician

M Thompson                                  

Lay Member
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24. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2014/15 2014/15 2013/14 2013/14

Target Performance Target Performance

£000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure not to exceed income 140,226           138,463           135,502            135,177           

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions -                      -                      -                        -                      

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 140,226           138,463           135,502            135,177           

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions -                      -                      -                        -                      

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 

not exceed the amount specified in Directions -                      -                      -                        -                      

Revenue administration resource use does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 2,597               2,481               2,610                2,362               

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2014/15 2014/15 2014/15

Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 137,629           2,597                140,226           

Net operating cost for the financial year 135,982           2,481                138,463           

Underspend against revenue resource 1,647               116                   1,763               

2013/14 2013/14 2013/14

Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 132,892           2,610                135,502           

Net operating cost for the financial year 132,815           2,362                135,177           

Underspend against revenue resource 77                    248                   325                  

The CCG received no capital resource during the year ended 31 March 2015 and incurred no capital expenditure (2013/14: 

none).
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